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a. INVESTMENT FUND INFORMATION

1. Name of Investment Fund
Global Saudi Equity Fund

2. Investment Objectives & Strategy
Global Saudi Equity Fund is an open-ended investment fund which invests primarily in shares of listed companies and in IPOs on the Saudi Stock 
Market to achieve long term capital growth. 

Fund Manager depends on research and recommendations of its research team in making investment decisions and to evaluate the economic 
conditions and capital markets, to manage the Fund at a high level of efficiency and professionalism. 

Fund shall invest at least 80% of its Net Asset Value (NAV) in shares of listed companies and IPOs and not more than 10% of the NAV can be 
invested in shares of a single company. In case the market value of a listed company exceeds 10% of the total market capitalization of companies 
listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange, the Fund Manager can increase the investment proportion in the company to the percentage represented 
by the company in the mentioned market capitalization. Fund plans to diversify its investment over different sectors, without any intention to 
concentrate in a single or more sectors. Fund Manager aims to make diversified investments into sectors and companies based on its view of 
risk-adjusted return expectations and assessment of the investment opportunity.

3. Distribution of Income and Gain Policy
Dividends and/or income are reinvested in the Fund and are not paid out or distributed to unitholders.

4. Fund’s reports will be made available to Clients upon request “Free of Charge”.

b. FUND PERFORMANCE

1. Last three (3) financial years
Year Net Asset Value (SAR) Net Asset Value per Unit (SAR) No. of Units Expense Ratio %

End High Low

2017 502,034,801.53 220.7729 227.3551 199.2764 2,273,987.5000 2.00%

2016 474,401,487.72 208.6210 214.0008 164.3792 2,273,987.5000 2.18%

2015 492,420,046.37 212.5533 284.1952 206.2884 2,316,689.5200 1.99%

2. a) Total return for 1yr, 3yrs and 5yrs
Years 1 year 3 Years 5 Years

Returns % 5.82% -7.17% 37.47%

 b) Annual total return for last 10 years          c) Fund Fees and Expenses
Years Annual Returns % Year 2017
2017 5.82% Management Fees 8,494,545.05

2016 -1.85% Administration Fees 631,023.35

2015 -10.62% Custody Fees 473,312.02

2014 13.82% Audit Fees 65,000.00

2013 30.10% Director Fees 20,000.00

2012 6.98% CMA Fees 7,500.00

2011 -3.83% Tadawul Fees 5,000.00

2010 15.23% Total 9696380.42

2009* 35.47% Expense Ratio 2.00%
*Inception date is January 28, 2009
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3. Material Changes
During 2017, there were NO material changes that affected the performance of the Fund.
 

4. Exercise of Voting Rights 
During 2017, the Fund Manager exercised voting for the following companies in the Fund.

# Name of 
Issuer

Date of 
General 
Assembly

Subject of the Vote Decision

1 Bahri 16/01/2017 Election of the members of the Board of Directors for a period of three years Agree

Selection of the auditor from among the candidates by the Audit Committee to 
review the financial statements for the fiscal year 2017 and the quarterly financial 
statements

Agree

Vote on the business license and the decisions taken by the current Board of Directors 
during the period from 1 January 2017 to 16 January 2017

Agree

Vote on the distribution of dividends to the shareholders for the year ended 31 
December 2016, at (2.5) riyals per share

Agree

2 Advanced 07/03/2017 Board of Directors Report for the year ended 2016 Agree

Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 2016 Agree

Auditors’ report for the year ended 2016 Agree

Distribution of cash dividend to shareholders for 2016 by Saudi Riyals 511.7 million 
representing 28.5% of the share capital

Agree

Authorizing the Board of Directors to distribute interim cash dividends to the 
shareholders for the financial year 2017

Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to pay remuneration of Saudi Riyals 
200,000 for each member of the Board of Directors for the year ended 2016

Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors from liability for the year ended 
2016

Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to appoint the external auditors to review 
and audit the quarterly and annual financial statements respectively and determine 
their remuneration for fiscal year 2017

Agree

Amending the Company’s bylaws in accordance with the new Companies Law Agree

Formation of the Audit Committee and to set its responsibilities, guidelines, rules and 
regulations and the remuneration of its members upon the proposal of the Board of 
Directors with effect from the date of the General Assembly and for a period of three 
years

Agree

3 Tawuniya 21/03/2017 Increase of the capital of the company from (1000) million riyals to (1250) million riyals Agree

Approval of the Amended Statutes Agree

Board of Directors’ Report for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Auditor’s report for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Financial statements of the company for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Transactions that will be in favor of the members of the Board of Directors and 
the major shareholders and their authorization for the coming year. The value of 
transactions during 2016 amounted to 10,578 thousand riyals

Agree

Deal between the company and the General Organization for Social Insurance (Board 
Member affiliation) and licensing for the coming year. The value of transactions during 
2016 amounted to SR 22,773 thousand 

Agree

Deal between the company and Riyadh National Hospital (Board Member affiliation) 
and licensing for the coming year. The value of transactions during 2016 amounted to 
SR 33,170 thousand 

Agree

Deal between the company and Riyadh Welfare Hospital (Board Member affiliation) 
and licensing for the coming year. The value of transactions during 2016 amounted to 
SR 35,963 thousand

Agree
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Deal between the company and the National Commercial Bank (Board Member 
affiliation) and licensing for the coming year. The value of transactions during 2016 
amounted to SR 419,212 thousand 

Agree

Deal between the company and Al Faisaliah Holding Group (Board Member affiliation) 
and licensing for the coming year. The value of transactions during 2016 amounted to 
SR 34,209 thousand 

Agree

Deal between the company and Etihad Etisalat (Mobily) (Board Member affiliation) 
and licensing for the coming year. The value of transactions during 2016 amounted to 
SR 81,411 thousand

Agree

Deal between the company and Qassim Cement Company (Board Member affiliation) 
and licensing for the coming year. The value of transactions during the year 2016 
amounted to SR 2,132 thousand

Agree

Deal between the company and the company of Najm for insurance services (Board 
Member affiliation) and licensing for the coming year. The value of transactions during 
2016 amounted to SR 13,642 thousand 

Agree

Deal between the company and the leading investment company (Board Member 
affiliation) and licensing for the coming year. The value of transactions during 2016 
amounted to SR 1,927 thousand 

Agree

Deal between the company and Abraaj Co-operative Company (Board Member 
affiliation) and licensing for the coming year. The value of transactions during the year 
2016 amounted to SR 1,662 thousand 

Agree

Deal between the company and the company Shadid Re for insurance brokerage 
(Board Member affiliation) and licensing for the coming year. The value of transactions 
during 2016 amounted to SR 8,056 thousand 

Agree

Deal between the company and the Arab Internet Services and Communications Co. 
Ltd. (Board Member affiliation) which represents health insurance without preferential 
conditions and licensing for the coming year. The value of transactions expected 
during 2017 is SR 23,000

Agree

Discharge of directors for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Appointment of the auditor from among the candidates by the Audit Committee to 
audit the company’s accounts for the fiscal year 2017

Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to distribute dividends to shareholders at 
a rate of SR 5 per share and 50% of the capital and a total of SR (500) million

Agree

Disbursement of SR 1.8 million is a bonus to the members of the Board of Directors for 
the financial year ended 2016

Agree

Election of the members of the Board for the period from 26/03/2017 to 25/03/2020 Agree

Composition of the members of the Audit Committee and the tasks of the Committee 
and its work and the remuneration of its members for the period from 26/03/2017 to 
25/03/2020

Agree

4 Jabal Omar 23/03/2017 Auditor’s report for the fiscal year ended 1437/12/30H Agree

Financial statements for the fiscal year ended 1437/12/30H Agree

Board of Directors’ report on the Company’s activities for the fiscal year ended 
1437/12/30H and the report of the Audit Committee

Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended 
1437/12/30H

Agree

Selection of the auditor of the company by the Audit Committee to audit the 
company’s accounts for the fiscal year 1438

Agree

Board of Directors decision to appoint Dr. Ahmed Osman Abdullah Al Qasabi as an 
independent member of the Board of Directors

Agree

Decision of the Board of Directors to appoint Mr. Yasser Abdul Aziz Mohammed Abu 
Ateeq (non-executive member) in the Board of Directors 

Agree

Renewal of the loan contract between the company and the Bank AlBilad (Board 
Member affiliation) and licensing for the coming year

Agree
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Company to buy the remaining cash stake of Makkah Construction and Development 
Company, which it held on behalf of property owners who did not complete their 
legal and regulatory documents. 35,956,495 shares valued at SR 359,564,950

Agree

Renewal of the loan contract between the company and Bank AlBilad (Board Member 
affiliation) and licensing for the coming year. The short-term loan for the previous year 
was SR 842,000,000

Agree

Continuation of the company’s dealings with Al-Bilad Finance Company (Board 
Member affiliation) and its license for the coming year knowing that the previous deal 
included the sale of 55 housing units in the project of Jabal Omar amounting to SR 
980,000,000 to Al-Bilad Finance Company

Agree

Contracts and the work that will be carried out between the company and the 
building office for engineering consultancy (Board Member affiliation), and licensing 
for the coming year. The value of the contract for the last year amounted to SR 
1,008,000 

Agree

Contracts and the work that will be between the company and the fresh factory in 
the commercial market (Board Member affiliation) for (4) leases and licensing for the 
coming year. The value of the contract for the last year amounted to SR 4,246,300 

Agree

Contracts and the work that will be carried out between the company and HSBC 
Saudi Arabia Ltd. (Board Member affiliation) and its license for the next year is to 
provide the services of a finance agent. The contract value from 16/9/2016 to 
15/9/2017 amounted to SR 275,000

Agree

Work that will be carried out between the company and the Central Cooling 
Company (Board Member affiliation), which is cooling services for the entire project 
with a production capacity of 55 thousand tons. The amount of work for the last year 
is SR 74,502,689

Agree

Contracts and the work that will be between the company and the Central Cooling 
Company (Board Member affiliation) is a construction work under implementation. 
The amount of the contract for the last year is SR 1,482,000 

Agree

Participation of the Chairman of the Board of Directors Mr. Abdul Aziz bin Mohammed 
Al-Subaie in the work of a competitor where he is one of the shareholders of 
Mohammed bin Ibrahim Al-Subaei and Sons Investment (MASIC)

Agree

Participation of the Vice-Chairman Dr. Abdullah bin Hamad Al-Mashael in the work of 
a competitor where he is a member of the Board of Directors of: Abdullah Al-Mishal 
and Sons Holding Company; Al Madinah Real Estate Investment Company

Agree

Participation of the board member Dr. Ziad Othman bin Ibrahim Al-Haqail in the 
work of a competitor where he is a member of the Board of Directors of: Deyaar Al-
Khuzama Real Estate Development Company; Sulaiman Bin Abdul Aziz Al Rajhi Real 
Estate Investments; Al - Rajhi Holding Company

Agree

Participation of the board member Eng. Anas bin Mohammed Saleh bin Hamza Sirafi 
in the work of a competitor where he is a member of the board of directors of: Taiba 
Holding Company; Umm Al Qura Real Estate Development Company; Al Tayyar Travel 
Group Co

Agree

Participation of the board member Dr.  Ahmed Othman Abdullah Al-Qasabi in the 
work of a competitor where he is a member of the Board of Directors of Sarab Real 
Estate Investment Company

Agree

Participation of the board member Mr. Khalid bin Saleh bin Mohammed Al-Freih in the 
work of a competitor where he is a member of the Board of Directors of Makkah for 
Construction and Development

Agree

Participation of the board member Mr. Mohieddin Saleh Kamel in the work of a 
competitor where he is a member of the Board of Directors of Al-Khuzama

Agree

Participation of the board member Mr. Thamer Nasser Al-Atish in the work of a 
competitor where he is a member of the Board of Directors of Risan Arab Real Estate 
Development Company

Agree

Formation of the Audit Committee, specifying its tasks and work rules and the rewards 
of its members for the current session which started on 1436/10/16H and ends on 
1439/10/15H for a period of three years

Agree

Amending the Company’s bylaws in accordance with the new Companies Law Agree

5 Almarai 26/03/2017 Auditors report for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree
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Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Audit Committee report for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Board Report for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to pay a dividend, for the fiscal year ended 
2016, of SAR 0.90 per share totaling SAR 720 million

Agree

Recommendation of the Audit Committee to appoint the Auditors for the full scope 
Audit of the Financial Statements of the fiscal year 2017

Agree

Board of Directors members from liability for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Directors remuneration amounting in total to SAR 1,800,000 for the financial year 
ended 2016

Agree

Nomination of Engr. Rayan bin Mohammed Fayez (non-executive), a member of the 
board of directors to complete the term of his predecessor in the current session, 
which began on 7th August 2016 and ends on 6th August, 2019

Agree

Managerial contract which will be between Almarai Company and Al Kabeer Farms 
(Board Member affiliation) and renew it for another year. The previous year contract 
was SAR 864,000 by the prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Feed purchase contract which will be between Almarai Company and Al Kabeer 
Farms (Board Member affiliation) and renew it for another year. The previous year 
contract was SAR 53,530,000 by the prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Lease of Todhia Dairy Farm which will be between Almarai Company and heirs of 
Prince Mohammed bin Saud Al Kabeer (Board Member affiliation) and renew it for 
another year. The previous year lease was SAR 813,000 by the prevailing commercial 
terms

Agree

Insurance contracts which will be between Almarai Company and Arabian Shield 
Insurance Co. (Board Member affiliation) and renew them for another year. The 
previous year contracts were SR 113,704,000 by the prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Renewal of the insurance services contract which will be between Almarai Company 
and Arabian Shield Insurance Co (Board Member affiliation) and renew it for another 
year. The previous year contract was SR 108,598,000 by the prevailing commercial 
terms

Agree

Payment of Sukuk dividends, which will be paid to Arabian Shield Insurance Co. (Board 
Member affiliation) and renew it for another year. The previous year dividend was SR 
73,000 by the prevailing commercial terms. 

Agree

Payment of Sukuk dividends which will be paid to Yamama Cement Company (Board 
Member affiliation) and renew it for another year. The previous year dividend was SR 
1,179,000 by the prevailing commercial terms. 

Agree

Telecommunication services which will be between Almarai Company and Mobile 
Telecommunication Company Saudi Arabia (Zain) (Board Member affiliation) and 
renew it for another year. The previous year amount was SR 303,000 by the prevailing 
commercial terms

Agree

Lease contract which will be between Almarai Company and Board Member 
Mr. Abdulaziz bin Ibrahim Al Muhanna. The lease is for rent of land for Almarai’s 
distribution center in Sharjah UAE costing for twenty years starting on 10 April 2001 
to 9th April 2021 and renew it for another year. The previous year contract was SR 
173,000 by the prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Publishing services contract which will be between Almarai Company and Al-Jazirah 
Press, Printing and Publishing (Board Member affiliation) and renew it for another year. 
The previous year services were SR 357,000 by the prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Feed purchase contract which will be between Almarai Company and Arab Company 
for Agricultural Services (Arasco) (Board Member affiliation) and renew it for another 
year. The previous year contract was SR 6,349,000 by the prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Sales contract which will be between Almarai Company and Panda Retail Company, 
in which Savola Group has an interest in and which is among Almarai’s largest 
shareholders. The previous year sales were SR 612,686,000 by the prevailing 
commercial terms

Agree
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Sugar purchases contract which will be between Almarai Company and United 
Sugar Co. that Savola Group has an interest in and which is among Almarai’s largest 
shareholders. The previous year purchases were SR 106,991,000 by the prevailing 
commercial terms

Agree

Soya Bean Oil purchase contracts which will be between Almarai Company and Afia 
International Company in which Savola Group has an interest in and which is among 
Almarai’s largest shareholders. The previous year purchases were SR 76,000 by the 
prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Financial services contract which will be between Almarai Company and J.P. Morgan 
Saudi Arabia Limited (Board Member affiliation) and renew it for another year. The 
previous year contract was SR 1,046,000 by the prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Renewable Bank Financing which will be between Almarai Company and J.P. Morgan 
Saudi Arabia Limited (Board Member affiliation) and renew it for another year. The 
previous year financing was SR 375,250,000, by the prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Bank services contract which will be between Almarai Company and Saudi British 
Bank (Board Member affiliation) and renew it for another year. The previous year 
contract was SR 31,136,000 by the prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Bank Financing for the period (2016 – 2027) which will be between Almarai Company 
and Saudi British Bank (Board Member affiliation) and renew it for another year. The 
previous year amount was SR 692,569,000 by the prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Sukuk dividends payment that will be paid to Saudi British Bank (Board Member 
affiliation) and renew it for another year 

Agree

Bank services contract which will be between Almarai Company and Banque Saudi 
Fransi (Board Member affiliation) and renew it for another year. The previous year 
contract was an SR 19,093,000 by the prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Bank Financing for the period (2016 – 2019) which will be between Almarai Company 
and Banque Saudi Fransi (Board Member affiliation) and renew it for another year. The 
previous year amount was SR 415,000,000 by the prevailing commercial terms

Agree

Sukuk dividends payment that will be paid to Banque Saudi Fransi, in which the board 
members Eng. Mosa bin Omran Al Omran and Mr. Bader bin Abdullah Al Issa have an 
interest in and renew it for another year

Agree

Board Member Mr. Abdulrahman bin Abdulaziz Al-Muhanna to be a member of the 
board of the Arab Company for Agricultural Services (Arasco), which engages in 
similar activity as Almarai Company in the poultry segment, and renew it for another 
year

Agree

Board Member Dr. Ibrahim bin Hasan Al Madhun to be a member of the board of the 
Herfy Food Services Co., which engages in similar activity as Almarai Company in the 
bakery segment, and renew it for another year

Agree

Board Member Engr. Rayan bin Mohammed Fayez to be a member of the board of the 
Herfy Food Services Co., which engages in similar activity as Almarai Company in the 
bakery segment, and renew it for another year

Agree

Amend the Company’s By-law in accordance with the New Companies Law Agree

Purchase of up to 10 Million shares and to allocate them within the Employee Share 
Participation Program, to be financed by the company Cash Flow, and to authorize 
the Board of Directors to complete the purchase in one or several tranches over a 
maximum period of twelve months from the date of the EGA resolution

Agree

6 Riyad Bank 27/03/2017 Board of Directors’ Report for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Auditors’ Report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Financial statements of the Bank as at 2016 Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Selection of auditors from among the candidates by the Audit Committee to review 
the financial statements for the year 2017

Agree

Total of proposed distribution and distributed dividends to the shareholders for the 
financial year ended 2016 amounted to 1,950 million riyals, representing 65 halalas per 
share and 6.5% of the share capital

Agree

Remuneration and compensation paid to the members of the Board of Directors for 
their membership

Agree
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Report of the Audit Committee on its opinion on the adequacy of the internal control 
system of the Bank and its other acts within the scope of its competence

Agree

Contracts will be signed between the Bank and the General Organization for Social 
Insurance (Board Member affiliation). These are the leases of Riyad Bank headquarters 
and several other headquarters in Riyadh. Which was made without special conditions 
or benefits. The total transactions during the year 2016 amounted to SR 23,712,970 
and the license for next year

Agree

Contracts that will be between the bank and the group of companies of Al-Hussein 
and Al-Afalq (Board Member affiliation). The ATM site lease contract has been on 
market conditions where the value of the contract during the year 2016 is SR 30,000 
mn and licensing for next year

Agree

Contracts between the Bank and the Cooperative Insurance Company (Board Member 
affiliation). Insurance services and medical insurance services for employees, which 
was made through competition without special conditions or benefits and duration of 
one year, where the value of contracts during the year 2017 amount of SR 65,184,360 
and licensing for the next year

Agree

Contracts between the bank and the Saudi Telecom Company (Board Member 
affiliation). The contract represents a one-year contract for the provision of short-term 
SMS services to customers, with a contract value of SR 1,800,000 for the year 2017

Agree

Amendments made to the Bank’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

Article (4) of the Articles of Association of the Bank stating that the Company may 
establish or establish its own companies (limited liability or closed shareholding) 
provided that the capital shall not be less than SR 5 million and may enter into 
partnerships with third parties

Agree

Board of Directors’ mandate to distribute interim profits Agree

7 Maaden 02/04/2017 Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 2016 Agree

Audit report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Board of Directors’ report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors not to distribute dividends for the financial 
year ended 2016

Agree

Appointing an external auditor from among the candidates by the Audit Committee 
to audit the company’s final accounts for the fiscal year 2017

Agree

Discharge of the directors of the company from responsibility for managing the 
company during the year ended 2016

Agree

Change in existing Board of Directors Agree

Change in existing Audit Committee Agree

Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

8 Bahri 12/04/2017 Board of Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Approval of the consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Auditors’ report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for the financial year 2016 Agree

Composition of the Audit Committee and the approval of the remuneration of its 
members, and determine the tasks and controls of its work, for the current session 
(2017 - 2019 AD)

Agree

Board of Directors’ mandate to distribute interim dividends semi-annually or quarterly Agree

Disbursement of SR 1,800,000 as remuneration to the members of the Board of 
Directors for the financial year ended 2016

Agree

Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

9 Zain KSA 13/04/2017 Board of Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Financial statements for the financial year ended 2016 Agree
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Auditor’s report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for their work during the fiscal 
year 2016

Agree

Appoint the auditors to review the quarterly and annual financial statements of the 
company for the fiscal year 2017

Agree

Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

Formation of the Audit Committee for the current session until the end of the current 
session of the Board of Directors and to approve the updating of the rules of selection 
of the members of the Committee and determine the functions and controls of its 
work and the rewards of its members

Agree

Etisalat services contract between Zain and Almarai Company (Board Member 
affiliation) and its license for the coming year. During the year 2016 amounted to the 
amount of SR 307 thousand under the prevailing commercial conditions

Agree

10 Sahara 18/04/2017 Board of Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Auditors’ report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Discharge of directors for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to distribute cash dividends to the 
shareholders for the fiscal year 2016 with a total amount of SR (329,096,250) (SR 0.75 
per share) representing 7.5% of the Company’s share capital

Agree

Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

Amendment of Article (19) of the Articles of Association of the Company and the 
powers of the Board of Directors

Agree

Amendment of Article (21) of the Articles of Association of the company and the 
powers of the President and the Deputy and Managing Director and Secretary

Agree

Amendment of Article (36) of the Articles of Association of the Company concerning 
the distribution of profits

Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to form the Audit Committee and define 
the functions of the Audit Committee and its work controls and the remuneration of 
its members

Agree

Appointment of the auditor of the company from among the candidates by the Audit 
Committee, to examine, review and audit the financial statements

Agree

Payment of the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors by two 
hundred thousand (200,000) Saudi Riyals for each member of the Board of Directors 
for the financial year ended 2016

Agree

11 Sipchem 19/04/20107 Report of the Board of Directors for the fiscal year 2016 Agree

Financial statements and profit and loss account of the company for the financial year 
ended on 2016

Agree

Auditors’ report for the financial year ended on 2016 Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for the past year 2016 Agree

Selection of the auditor nominated by the Audit Committee, to audit the company’s 
accounts for the fiscal year 2017

Agree

Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

12 Emaar EC 24/04/2017 Board of Directors’ Report for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Financial statements of the company for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Auditor’s report for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 Agree

Transactions between Chairman of the Board of Directors, CEO & Managing Director 
and Deputy CEO. The value of the transactions for the previous year amounted to SR 
2,106,320

Agree
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Commercial transactions and contracts of holding a development lease for 25 years 
starting from September 2014 for industrial land in the Industrial Valley area of 106.100 
square meters with the Dallah Trading Group (Board Member affiliation) and licensing 
for next year. The value of transactions for the previous year amounted to SR 1,167,100

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts of holding a 20-year lease from January 
2012 to the industrial land of Saudi Catering Company (Board Member affiliation) 
and authorized for the coming year. The value of transactions for the previous year 
amounted to SR 1,047,603

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts of continuing a 20-year lease from September 
2013 to the industrial land of Petromin Oils company (Board Member affiliation) 
and the license for the coming year. The value of transactions for the previous year 
amounted to SR 1,351,777 

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts of the continuation of a lease for 15 years 
began in September 2014 for the industrial land of Namarq (Board Member affiliation) 
and license for the coming year. The value of transactions for the previous year 
amounted to SR 1,374,000 

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts of the sale of industrial land in 2012 for the 
company Sakala Trading (Board Member affiliation) and the license for next year 
to provide services. The value of transactions for the previous year amounted to SR 
31,250

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts of the sale of industrial land in 2012 of the 
warehouse to Sakala medicines (Board Member affiliation) and licensing for the next 
year. The value of transactions for the previous year amounted to SR 2,161,850

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts of 20 years lease starting from February 2016 
for the industrial land of Sogala Pharma Pharmaceutical Company (Board Member 
affiliation) and its license for next year. The value of transactions for the previous year 
amounted to SR 464,769

Agree

Commercial transactions of an amendment of SR 350,497 on a contract of 
construction and electrical services with Nagy Marine Works Company (Board 
Member affiliation)

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts of construction and electrical services with 
the company Nagy Maritime Works (Board Member affiliation). The total value of the 
contract was SR 975,960 and its license for the coming year

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts for the execution of infrastructure works with 
an amendment to the contract worth SR 2,597,125 with the Arab Company for spare 
parts and maintenance (Board Member affiliation) and the license for the coming year. 
The value of transactions for the previous year amounted to SR 3,250,000

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts for the execution of infrastructure works in the 
amount of SR 18,800,000 with the Arab Company for spare parts and maintenance 
(Board Member affiliation) and his license for the next year

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts for the purchase of raw materials from the Port 
Development Company (Board Member affiliation) in the coming year

Agree

Contract for consulting services on demand between the company and turner 
engineering consultancy company, which is owned by Emaar Properties, and a license 
for the coming year. The value of transactions for the previous year amounted to SR 
27,717,198

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts of the supply of television screens from the 
company Joseph Nagy United (Board Member affiliation) and authorization for the 
coming year. The value of transactions for the previous year amounted to SR 114,483

Agree

Eng. Khalid bin Abdullah Al-Mulhim, has been elected to the Board of Directors for 
a period of 5 years starting from February 2013. The value of transactions for the 
previous year amounted to SR 391,580

Agree

Commercial transactions for a period of 5 years starting from April 2013 with Lina 
Light Foods Company (Board Member affiliation) and the license for the coming year. 
The value of transactions for the previous year amounted to SR 99,000 

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts of a management contract and services 
for a period of 10 years starting from January 2013 with Al-Khuzama management 
company (Board Member affiliation) and the license for the coming year. The value of 
transactions for the previous year amounted to SR 2,145,996 

Agree
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Commercial transactions and contracts of a five-year management and services 
contract started from November 2016 through a subsidiary of the Economic City 
Construction Company (EDGE) to operate The Views with Al Khozama Management 
Company (Board Member affiliation) and licensed for the coming year

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts to continue to provide services to Halwani 
Bros. (Board Member affiliation), which has already purchased industrial land in the 
year 2013 and the value of transactions for the previous year SR 37,145

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts, which is a continuation of the lease of 
commercial offices for a period of 5 years starting from November 2014 with the Okaz 
Foundation for Press and Publishing (Board Member affiliation), and the license for the 
coming year. The value of transactions for the previous year amounted to SR 426,600 

Agree

Selection of the auditor from among the candidates by the Audit Committee to 
review the financial statements for the fiscal year 2017

Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

SR 3,462,466 as remuneration and compensation to the members of the Board of 
Directors for the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016

Agree

13 Samba 30/04/2017 Board of Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Auditors’ report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 2016 Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to approve a total dividend distribution of 
SR 2,434 million (95 halalas per share), representing 9.5% of the value of the nominal 
share, for the year ended 2016 

Agree

Remuneration and compensation paid to the members of the Board of Directors for 
their membership for the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016

Agree

Elect the auditors from among the candidates in accordance with the 
recommendation of the Audit Committee to review the financial statements of the 
Bank for the year 2017

Agree

Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

Decision of the Board of Directors to appoint Mr. Musa bin Abdulkarim Al-Rubaian and 
Mr. Alaa Bin Mohammed Al Harthy members to fill the two vacant seats on the Board 
of Directors until the end of the current session of the Board

Agree

Board of Directors’ mandate to distribute interim dividends to the shareholders of the 
Group

Agree

Members of the Audit committee for the current session ending on 19/1/2019 Agree

Approval of board member Mr. Musa bin Abdulkarim Al-Rubaiean to participate in the 
work that would compete with the group, as a member of the board of directors of 
Societe Generale

Agree

List of work of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee Agree

14 NCB 03/05/2017 Board of Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Financial statements for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Auditors’ report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to distribute total dividends of SR 
3,196,903,527 (SR 1.6 per share), representing 16% of the value of the nominal share, 
for the year ended 2016  

Agree

Board of Directors’ mandate to distribute interim dividends to the shareholders of the 
Bank on a semi-annual or quarterly basis

Agree

Selection of auditors, the determination of their fees and candidates by the Audit 
Committee to audit the Bank’s accounts for the fiscal year 2017

Agree

Remuneration and compensation paid to the members of the Board of Directors for 
their membership for the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016

Agree
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Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Business license and contracts between NCB and the related parties and their 
authorization for the coming year by accepting the offer of Tawuniya (Board Member 
affiliation) to provide medical insurance services to the employees of the National 
Commercial Bank for the year 2017 with a total amount of SR 113,877,750 without 
conditions or preferential advantages

Agree

Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

Executive Shares Scheme approved by the Board of Directors and the Board of 
Directors’ mandate to amend the stock scheme for executive officers when required, 
and to complete the purchase in several stages or stages as it deems appropriate, 
and that the source of funding for the program shall be from the profits of the Bank 
and that the maximum number of shares allowed to purchase the program shall not 
exceed 4 million shares

Agree

Working list of the Audit Committee and selection of the audit committee members Agree

Bank’s social responsibility policy Agree

15 SACO 04/05/2017 Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

Election of the members of the Board of Directors of the company for the next three 
years as of 20/07/2017

Agree

Board of Directors’ report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Auditor’s report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Financial statements for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Appointment of the auditor of the company from among the candidates by the Audit 
Committee, to examine, review and audit the financial statements for the year 2017

Agree

Distribution of the company’s profits for the fiscal year 2016 of SR 72 million (SR 1.5 
per share) and 15% of the nominal value of the share

Agree

Board of Directors’ mandate to distribute dividends to the shareholders during the 
fiscal year 2017

Agree

Transactions and contracts that will be held between the company and the heirs 
of Abdullah Taha Bakhsh owners of Abrar International Holding, one of the largest 
shareholders of the company, until 26/02/2020 and its license for the coming year. The 
amount of dealing during the year 2016 was SR 2,250,000 and during 2017 will be the 
same and there are no preferential conditions in this deal

Agree

Transactions and contracts that will be held between the company and the heirs 
of Abdullah Taha Bakhsh owners of Abrar International Holding, one of the major 
shareholders of the company, and its license for the coming year. The amount of the 
deal during 2016 was SR 1,803,575 and in 2017 will be SR 1,312,602 and there are no 
preferential conditions in this deal

Agree

Commercial transactions between Samaco and the company owned by Mr. 
Abdulrahman Hassan Sharbatli, a major shareholder in SACO, during the fiscal year 
2016 and its license for the coming year. The amount of dealing during 2016 was SR 
9,548,369 and there are no preferential conditions in this deal

Agree

Transactions and contracts between Medescan and SACO of transport and storage 
services where there are related parties (Board Member affiliation) in this transaction. 
In 2016 was SR 201,145 and there are no preferential conditions in this deal

Agree

Transactions and contracts that will be held between the company and the heirs 
of Abdullah Taha Bakhsh owners of Abrar International Holding, one of the largest 
shareholders of the company, which is the renewal of the lease of the SACO exhibition 
in Jeddah Prince Mohammed Street. The amount of handling during 2016 is SR 
1,803,575 and there are no preferential conditions in this deal

Agree

Disbursement of SR 1,800,000 as an annual bonus for the members of the Board of 
Directors for the financial year ended 2016

Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Formation of the Audit Committee, its functions, its work rules and the rewards of its 
members to complete the current session ending on 20-07-2017

Agree
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Composition of the Audit Committee, its functions, its work rules and the rewards of 
its members for the new session of the Council, which begins on 20-07-2017 until 
20-07-2020

Agree

16 BUPA 08/05/2017 Report of the Board of Directors for the year ended 2016 Agree

Auditor’s report for the year ended 2016 Agree

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 2016 Agree

Appointment of the Company’s auditors nominated by the Audit Committee to 
review, review and audit the financial statements for the year 2017

Agree

Business and contracts with related parties and the members of the Board of Directors 
interest in them, which took place in 2016, and the license for the next year 2017

Agree

Total amount distributed SR 120,000,000 (SR 1.5 per share) and 15% of the paid-up 
share capital

Agree

Disbursement of two million nine hundred thousand Saudi Riyals as a bonus for the 
members of the Board of Directors for the fiscal year 2016

Agree

Discharge of directors from responsibility for managing the company during the 
financial year ended 2016

Agree

Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

Board Members’ Rewards Policy Agree

Remuneration policy of members of the Board Committees Agree

Employee stock scheme (long-term incentive plan) Agree

To purchase shares for SAR 11,058,750 with the aim of allocating them to the 
Company’s Employee Plan (the long-term incentive plan)

Agree

17 Bank AlBilad 08/05/2017 Board of Directors’ Report for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Auditors’ report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Financial statements and profit and loss account of the Bank as at 31/12/2016 Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to distribute cash dividends to 
shareholders at a total amount of SR 300 million (SR 0.50 per share) and equivalent to 
5% of the nominal value of the share for the fiscal year ended 2016

Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Board of Auditors voted on the selection of auditors from among the candidates to 
review the financial statements for the fiscal year 2017

Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to form the members of the Audit 
Committee and the functions and controls of its work and the remuneration of its 
members, as of the date of the beginning of its current session from 17/04/2016 to 
16/04/2019 (for a period of three years)

Agree

Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

Amendments made to the list of the Audit Committee Agree

Amendments made to the Nomination Committee’s list and the rewards which 
include the rules of the committee’s work and its functions, the rules of selection of its 
members

Agree

Replacement policy for the members of the Board of Directors and its committees Agree

Amendments to the Community Responsibility Policy Agree

Payment of SR 3,960,000 as remuneration to the members of the Board of Directors for 
the financial year ended 2016

Agree

Works and contracts of (renting the ATM site) between the bank and Mohammed bin 
Ibrahim Al-Subaie and Sons Company (Board Member affiliation). The amount of SR 
100,000 per annum (the period of the contract from 03/07/2010 to 20/07/2025) and 
there are no preferential conditions in these works and contracts

Agree
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Works and contracts represented by (the rent of Anjaz Center), which will be between 
the bank and Mohammed bin Ibrahim Al-Subaie and Sons Company (Board Member 
affiliation). The leasing contract for the was SR 174,790 per annum (the contract period 
from 05/12/2016 to 04/12/2026) and there are no preferential conditions in these 
works and contracts

Agree

Works and contracts represented by (the rent of Anjaz Center), which will be between 
the bank and Mohammed bin Ibrahim Al-Subaie and Sons Company (Board Member 
affiliation). The leasing contract was for SR 472,000 per annum (contract period from 
06/04/2016 to 05/04/2026) and there are no preferential conditions in these works 
and contracts

Agree

Works and contracts of (renting an exhibition and two offices) between the bank and 
Khalid Abdul Aziz Al Meqarn and Sons Holding Company (Board Member affiliation) 
and its license for the coming year. The contract amount of SR 2,376,000 per annum 
(the period of the contract from 01/01/2013 to 31 (12/2017) and there are no 
preferential conditions in these businesses and contracts

Agree

Works and contracts of (renting two offices), which will be between the bank and 
Khalid Abdulaziz Al-Muqairn and Sons Holding Company (Board Member affiliation) 
and the license for the coming year. The rental contract was SR 1,168,200 per annum 
(the contract period from 08/08/2016 to 31/12/2019) and there are no preferential 
terms in these works and contracts

Agree

Works and contracts represented by (rent of Anjaz center), which will be between 
the bank and Mr. Abdulrahman bin Saleh Al Rajhi (Board Member affiliation) and 
the license for the coming year. The lease contract was for SR 150,000 per year 
(the contract period from 11/04/2010 to 10/04/2020) and there are no preferential 
conditions in these works and contracts

Agree

Business and contracts represented by (ATMs), which will be between the Bank and 
the Arab Centers Company Ltd. (Board Member affiliation) and its license for the 
coming year. The value of the contract in 2016 was SR 2,792,400 riyals per annum (the 
period of contracts from 09/07/2013 to 15/05/2018) and there are no preferential 
conditions in these works and contracts

Agree

Works and contracts represented by the rental of the site of Bank AlBilad branch, 
which will be between the Bank and Abdullah Al-Subaie Real Estate Company (Board 
Member affiliation) and the license for the coming year. The value of the contract is SR 
2,090,600 per annum (the period of the contract from 13/11/2014 to 12/11/2024) and 
there are no preferential conditions in these works and contracts

Agree

Works and contracts represented by the contract of renting the site of the branch 
of the country, which will be between the bank and Mr. Abdullah bin Ibrahim bin 
Mohammed Al-Subaie (Board Member affiliation) and the license for the coming year. 
The value of the contract is SR 650,000 per annum (contract period from 01/04/2005 
to 31/03 / 2017) and there are no preferential conditions in these works and contracts

Agree

Contract of the Engaz Center Lease, which will be between the bank and Mr. 
Abdulrahman bin Abdul Aziz bin Saleh Al Rajhi, a major shareholder, and its license 
for the next year. The lease contract for SR 180,000 per annum (contract period from 
09/08/08 to 08/08/2025) and there are no preferential conditions in these works and 
contracts

Agree

Works and contracts represented by (the rental contract of Bank AlBilad branch), 
which will be between the bank and Abdulrahman bin Abdul Aziz bin Saleh Al Rajhi, 
a major shareholder, and its license for the coming year. The value of contract of SR 
400,000 per annum (contract period from 01/06/2015 to 31/05/2025) and there are no 
preferential conditions in these works and contracts

Agree

Works and contracts represented by (the lease contract of Bank Albilad branch), which 
will be between the bank and Abdulrahman bin Abdul Aziz bin Saleh Al Rajhi, a major 
shareholder, and the license for the coming year. The value of contract of SR 500,000 
per year (contract from 15/09/2010 to 14/09/2025) and there are no preferential 
conditions in these works and contracts

Agree

Controls and procedures issued to implement the system of companies of listed 
shareholding companies issued by the Capital Market Authority

Agree

18 SGS 18/05/2017 Audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Board of Directors’ Report for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Auditors’ report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree



Annual Report 2017
Global Saudi Equity Fund

14 Global Investment House Saudi

Discharge of directors for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Payment of SR 4,206,000 as a bonus to the members of the Board of Directors for the 
financial year ended 2016

Agree

Appointment of the external auditor of the company’s accounts nominated by the 
Audit Committee for the audit of the company for the year 2017

Agree

Company’s management confirms that 32 transactions executed during the year with 
related parties and members of the board are based on commercial basis without any 
preferential conditions to the benefit of the company and the shareholders

Agree

Candidate for membership of the Audit Committee for the current session (2014-
2019) Mr. Mohammed Bin Ibrahim Al Obeid - from outside the Board of Directors

Agree

License to the two board members competing with the company in the field of 
selling tickets within the airports of the Kingdom. The company has stopped the 
practice of selling tickets within the airports of the Kingdom, where the Board 
recommends the renewal of license for the coming year

Agree

Board of Directors’ authorization to pay dividends to shareholders Agree

19 Walaa 21/05/2017 Board of Directors’ Report for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Auditors’ report for the year ended 2016 Agree

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 2016 Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for the year ended 2016 Agree

Appointment of the auditor of the company from among the candidates by the Audit 
Committee to review and audit the company’s accounts for the fiscal year 2017

Agree

Changing the name of the company from Saudi United Cooperative Insurance 
Company (Walaa) to Walaa Cooperative Insurance Company

Agree

Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

Disbursement of SR 1,260,000 as a bonus to the members of the Board of Directors for 
the financial year ended 2016

Agree

Deal between the company and the Chairman of the Board of Directors and its license 
for the coming year.  The transactions for the previous year was SR 129,000 to issue a 
special car insurance for one year

Agree

Deal between the company and Al-Othman Group (Board Member affiliation) and its 
license for the coming year. The transactions for the previous year was SR 250,000

Agree

Deal between the company and the medical services company (Board Member 
affiliation) and its license for the coming year. The transactions for the previous year 
was premiums of SR 2,232 million

Agree

Deal between the company and Procure / Care Hospital (Board Member affiliation) 
and its license for the coming year. The transactions for the previous year was SR 
92,000

Agree

Deal between the company and the group Essam Qabbani (Board Member affiliation) 
and licensing for the coming year. The transactions for the previous year was SR 22,000

Agree

Deal between the company and the Amiantit Group (Board Member affiliation) and 
licensing for the coming year. The transactions for the previous year was SR 302,000 

Agree

Deal between the company and the group Shuaibi (Board Member affiliation) and 
license for the coming year. The transactions for the previous year was premiums of SR 
344,000

Agree

Issuance of a one-year insurance policy by insurance brokers with total premiums of 
SR 306,000 for Al Othman Group (Board Member affiliation) 

Agree

Participation of the board member Mr. Hassan bin Issam Qabbani to work as an 
insurance specialist, the work of a competitor and his license for the coming year

Agree

20 Buruj 22/05/2017 Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to distribute a cash dividend of SR 0.5 per 
share and 5% of the share capital amounting to SR 12,500,000

Agree

Report of the Board of Directors for the year ended 2016 Agree
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Auditors’ report for the year ended 2016 Agree

Financial statements for the year ended 2016 Agree

Discharge of directors for the year ended 2016 Agree

Appointment of the auditors of the company from among the candidates by 
the Audit Committee, to examine, review and audit the financial statements and 
statements for the year 2017

Agree

Contracts and the work that will take place between the company and the Sakala 
Commercial Establishment (Board Member affiliation) and its license for the coming 
year. Insurance contract are without special conditions or benefits for one year and 
where the transactions during the year 2016 amounted to SR 1,075,561

Agree

Contracts and the work that will take place between the company and Al-Ma’mon 
Overseas Insurance Brokers Ltd. (Board Member affiliation) and licensing for the 
coming year. An insurance brokerage contract in the form approved with all insurance 
intermediaries with whom the company deals and the percentage of commission 
varies by type of document Insurance during the year 2016 amounted to SR 3,375,914

Agree

Contracts and the work that will be between the company and Yousef Mohammed 
Abdul Wahab Nagi United (Board Member affiliation) and licensing for the next year. 
Insurance contract are without special conditions or benefits for one year where the 
transactions during the year 2016 amounted to SR 5,572,681

Agree

Contracts and the work that will be between the company and the Supply of Arab 
Trading Co. Ltd. and the Arab food supply company (Board Member affiliation) and 
licensing for the next year. Insurance contract are without special conditions or 
benefits for one year where the transactions during the year 2016 amounted to SR 
852,119

Agree

Contracts and the work that will be between the company and each of the institution 
of the transfer of pilgrims and Andalus Company for the transfer of pilgrims and the 
company Rahal National Services limited (Board Member affiliation) and licensing for 
the next year. Insurance contract are without special conditions or benefits for one 
year where the transactions during the year 2016 amounted to SR 12,492,030 

Agree

Contracts and the work that will be between the company, Al-Bassam Trading 
Company, Dar Al-Balagh Company (Board Member affiliation) and its license for the 
coming year. Insurance contract are without special conditions or benefits for one 
year where the transactions during the year 2016 amounted to SR 52,836

Agree

Contracts and the work that will be between the company and the company Ali 
Hassan al-Sayyid and Sons Trading (Board Member affiliation) and licensing for the 
next year, Insurance contract are without special conditions or benefits for one year 
where the transactions during the year 2016 amounted to SR 69,297

Agree

Contracts and business between the company and the Gulf Insurance Company 
and the members of the stakeholders, a reinsurance transactions without special 
conditions or benefits and the duration of the year where the transactions during the 
year 2016 amounted to SR 1,859,842

Agree

Payment of SAR 900,000 as a bonus for the members of the Board of Directors for the 
fiscal year ended 2016

Agree

21 Herfy Foods 22/05/2017 Auditor’s report for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Financial statements of the company for the fiscal year ended 2016 Agree

Report of the Audit Committee for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Contents of the annual report of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended 
2016

Agree

Selection of auditors and determine their fees from among the candidates in 
accordance with the recommendation of the Audit Committee to review the 
Company’s audited annual financial statements for the year 2017

Agree

Board of Directors recommendation to distribute total dividends for the fiscal year 
2016 amounting to SR 138.6 million (SAR 3 per share) representing 30% of the 
company’s share capital

Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors from the responsibility of the 
management of the company for the period from 1/1/2016 until 31/12/2016

Agree
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Disbursement of the amount of SR 1,800,000 to the members of the Board of Directors 
for the financial year ended 2016

Agree

Transactions and contracts that will be made with the Savola Group through its 
subsidiaries which is represented by (purchases and sales of food products and rental 
of shops) to the members of the Board of Directors. In 2016 SR 40.91 million has been 
agreed upon commercial terms prevailing

Agree

Transactions and contracts that will be made with Delmonte Company (Board 
Member affiliation) and its license for the coming year. The transactions in 2016 
amounted to SR 14.35 million

Agree

Transactions and contracts to be made with Khalid Ahmed Al-Saeed (Board Member) 
in person and representative in the lease of a piece of land and its license for the 
coming year. The value of the lease for 2016 amounted to SR 200,000 per annum and 
have been agreed upon under prevailing commercial conditions

Agree

Transactions and contracts that will be made with the company Bizza commercial 
(Board Member affiliation) and its license for the coming year. The value of 
transactions for 2016 amounted to SR 1.67 million and have been agreed upon under 
prevailing commercial conditions

Agree

Transactions and contracts that will be made with the company Maslan (Board 
Member affiliation) and its license for the coming year. The value of transactions 
for 2016 amounted to SR 89,000 and have been agreed upon under prevailing 
commercial conditions

Agree

Transactions and contracts that will be made with Qitaf Real Estate Investment 
Company (Board Member affiliation) and to license it for the next year. The value of 
transactions for 2016 amounted to SR 2.6 million and have been agreed upon under 
prevailing commercial conditions

Agree

Transactions and contracts to be made with Ahmed Hamad Al-Saeed (Board Member) 
in person and represented in contracts for the lease of land and two residential 
buildings and the license for the coming year. The value of the lease for 2016 
amounted to SR 580,000 and agreed upon the prevailing commercial conditions

Agree

Transactions and contracts that will be made with Al Rajhi Bank (Board Member 
affiliation) and its license for the coming year note. The value of transactions in 2016 
amount to SR 155 million and agreed upon prevailing commercial conditions

Agree

Increase in the company’s capital from SR 462 million to SR 646.8 million. An increase 
of 40% from 46.2 million shares to 64.68 million shares i.e. 2 shares will be granted for 
every 5 shares

Agree

Amend Article (7) of the Company’s Articles of Association after approving the capital 
increase

Agree

Board of Directors’ mandate to distribute quarterly semi-annual and quarterly 
dividends to its shareholders for the fiscal year 2017

Agree

Board of Directors’ decision to appoint Eng. Ahmed Al-Falih (an independent member) 
and Mr. Mohamed Al-Hagbani (an independent member) as members of the Board of 
Directors of the Company during the period from 16/4/2017 to 30/4/2018

Agree

Board of Directors recommended to appoint two members of the Audit Committee 
from outside the Board of Directors and a specialist in financial and accounting 
affairs. Which started on 01/05/2015 and ends on 30/4/2018, instead of two outgoing 
members

Agree

Audit Committee’s Work List Agree

List of work of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, which includes the 
rules and procedures of the committee’s work, its functions, the rules of selection of its 
members, the duration of their membership and their remuneration

Agree

Policies, criteria and procedures of membership on the Board of Directors Agree

Remuneration policy of Board members, Executive Committees and Senior Executives Agree

22 Bank Saudi 
Fransi

23/05/2017 Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

23 Sadafco 24/05/2017 Approve the report of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended 31/03/2017 Agree

Auditor’s report for the financial year ended 31/03/2017 Agree
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Final accounts and on the profit and loss account for the period from 01/04/2016 to 
31/03/2017

Agree

Board of Directors’ proposal to distribute SR 130,000,000 as dividends at a rate of SR 4 
per share, equivalent to 40% of the Company’s capital

Agree

Recommendation of the Audit Committee to appoint an auditor for the company’s 
accounts from among the candidates by the Audit Committee to review the 
company’s accounts for the fiscal year beginning from 01/04/2017 and ending on 
31/03/2018

Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for the period from 01/04/2016 to 
31/03/2017

Agree

Disbursement of the amount of SR 2,800,000 as a remuneration to the members of 
the Board of Directors for the fiscal year ending 31 March 2017

Agree

Transactions and contracts to be concluded between the Company and Al Buruj 
Cooperative Insurance Company (Board Member affiliation) and its license for the 
coming year from 01/07/2017 to 30/06/2018 under the prevailing commercial 
conditions 

Agree

Election of the members of the Board of Directors of the company for the next session 
and duration of three years beginning from 01/04/2018 and ending on 31/03/2021

Agree

Formation of the Audit Committee for the next three-year session starting from 
01/04/2018 and ending on 31/03/2021

Agree

24 Mouwasat 24/05/2017 Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

25 Saudi German 
Hospital

08/06/2017 Board of Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 2016 Agree

Auditor’s report for the fiscal year ending 2016 Agree

Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 2016 Agree

Selection of the company’s auditors from among the candidates by the Audit 
Committee to audit the company’s accounts and financial statements for the fiscal 
year 2017

Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors from their responsibility for the 
management of the company during the fiscal year ended 2016

Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors on the distribution of cash dividend of 
SR 184.08 for the financial year ended 2016 at SR 2 per share representing 20% of the 
company’s share capital

Agree

Disbursement of SR 2,800,000 as a bonus to the members of the Board of Directors 
and the remuneration of members of the subcommittees for the period from 
01/01/2016 to 31/12/2016

Agree

Works and contracts that will be concluded between Middle East Healthcare 
Company and Emirates Health Care and Development Company (Board Member 
affiliation) and renewal of this continuous contract for another year. This deal is the 
administrative supervision agreement of the German Hospital in Dubai for 10% of net 
profit before tax and Zakat. The return on administrative supervision for the year 2016 
amounted to SR 14,228

Agree

Works and contracts that will be concluded between Middle East Healthcare 
Company and Saudi Yemeni Health Care Company (Board Member affiliation) and 
renewal of this continuous contract for another year. This deal is the administrative 
supervision agreement on the German Hospital in Sana’a for 10% of net profit before 
tax and Zakat. There is no return from this agreement due to the difficult conditions 
currently prevailing in Yemen and there are no preferential conditions for this contract

Agree

Works and contracts that will be concluded between Middle East Healthcare 
Company and the Egyptian Saudi Health Care Company (Board Member affiliation) 
and renewal of this contract for another year. This transaction is the administrative 
supervision agreement of the Saudi German Hospital in Cairo for 10% of net profit 
before tax and Zakat. The contract of administrative supervision began in 2016 and is 
expected to obtain the return of this agreement in 2018 and there are no preferential 
conditions in this contract

Agree
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Works and contracts that will be concluded between Middle East Healthcare 
Company and Hail National Health Services Company (Board Member affiliation) and 
renewal of this contract for a further year. This deal is the administrative supervision 
agreement on the Saudi German Hospital in Hail for 10% of net profit before tax and 
Zakat. The hospital started work in 2017 and it is expected to obtain a return from this 
agreement in 2018. Preferential conditions in this contract

Agree

Works and contracts between Middle East Healthcare Company and Al-Batterjee 
College for Medical and Technology Sciences (Board Member affiliation) and renewal 
of this contract for another year. The contract value for the year 2017 is SR 2,666,667 
while the value of the contract for 2016 is SR 5,333,333. There are no preferential 
conditions in this contract

Agree

Works and contracts that will be concluded between Middle East Healthcare 
Company and Beit Al Batterjee Medical Company (Board Member affiliation) and 
renewal of this contract for another year. Middle East Healthcare will receive a higher 
fee than the administrative supervision contract with a contract value of SR 4.9 million 
per annum with an annual increase in actual cost of 5% In 2017 the amount of SR 
5,715

Agree

Business and contracts between Middle East Healthcare Company and Beit Al 
Batterjee for Education and Training (Board Member affiliation) and renewal of this 
contract for another year. It is expected that the value of deal in 2017 to be SR 3 
million paid on the basis of actual service provided while the value of deal for the year 
2016 amounted to SR 784,700. There are no preferential conditions in this contract

Agree

Works and contracts between Middle East Healthcare Company represented in its 
hospitals in Jeddah, Riyadh, Assir, Hail and Abdul Jalil Khalid Petrgi Company (Board 
Member affiliation) for the maintenance of medical devices (maintenance) and 
renewal of this contract for another year. The value of the contract for the year 2017 
amounted to SR 5,500,000 paid on the basis of actual service provided while the size 
of the deal in 2016 was SR 4,168,965 and there are no preferential conditions in this 
contract

Agree

Bap Pharma (Board Member affiliation) to purchase and supply the specified 
medicines with payments based on the pre-purchase and actual price of Middle East 
Healthcare Company from third party and the renewal of this contract. The contract 
value for 2017 is expected to be SR 23 million based on the product. The actual 
purchased value of the deal for the year 2016 amounted to SR 18,459,163. There are 
no preferential conditions in this contract

Agree

Works and contracts that will be concluded between Middle East Healthcare 
Company represented in its hospitals in Jeddah and Hail and Shabab Al Khaleej 
Investment and Real Estate Development Company (Board Member affiliation) and 
renewal of this contract for another year. The value of the contract for the year 2017 is 
expected to be SR 8,480,000 paid in monthly installments and on the basis of active 
service provided in 2016 for SR 7,954, SR 517. There are no preferential conditions in 
this contract

Agree

Works and contracts that will be concluded between Middle East Healthcare 
Company and the establishment of International Hospitals Ltd. (Board Member 
affiliation) and the renewal of this contract for another year. The expected value 
of the deal for the year 2017 is SR 41 million of the total contract value amounting 
to SR 93,329,724 for a period of three years knowing that the value of transactions 
during the year 2016 amounted to SR 70,785,003. There is no preferential terms in this 
contract

Agree

Works and contracts to be concluded between Middle East Healthcare Company 
and the establishment of International Hospitals Ltd. (Board Member affiliation). The 
expected value of the deal for the year 2017 is SR 26 million of the total value of the 
contract of SR 53,060,000 for 24 months and to renew this contract for another year. 
There are no preferential conditions in this contract

Agree

Works and contracts to be concluded between Middle East Healthcare Company 
and the establishment of International Hospitals Ltd. (Board Member affiliation) and 
renewal of this contract for another year. It is expected that the value of the deal for 
the year 2017 to be SR 135 million of the total contract value of $ 336.45 million for a 
period of 30 months. There are no preferential conditions in this contract

Agree
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Works and contracts between Abdul-Jalil Ibrahim Batterjee Development Company, 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Middle East Healthcare Company, Hail National 
Health Services Company and other non-Middle East Healthcare Hospitals, which is 
administratively supervised and renewal of this contract for another year. This deal 
with no significant additional cost is expected to reach profit of SR 12 million riyals in 
the year 2017 and there is no preferential terms in this contract

Agree

Works and contracts that will be concluded between Middle East Healthcare 
Company and Beit Al Batterjee Medical Company (Board Member affiliation) and 
renewal of this contract for another year. This transaction is an agreement for the 
administrative supervision of Al-Batterjee Medical City in Alexandria, in return for 
the company obtaining 10% of the net profit before tax and Zakat. The hospital is 
expected to be operational by the end of 2019. The financial impact is expected to be 
on the Middle East Healthcare Company (Saudi German Hospital) by 2020. There are 
no preferential conditions in this contract

Agree

Works and contracts that will be concluded between Middle East Healthcare 
Company and Beit Al Batterjee Medical Company (Board Member affiliation) and 
renewal of this contract for another year. This transaction is the administrative 
supervision agreements of Sharjah Hospital and Ajman Hospital. The company is 
entitled to 10% of the net profit before tax and Zakat. Sharjah Hospital is expected to 
start operating in the second quarter of 2018 and Ajman Hospital in the third quarter 
of 2019. The financial impact of Middle East Healthcare Company (Saudi German 
Hospital) is expected to be in 2020 and 2021 respectively

Agree

Works and contracts that will be concluded between Middle East Healthcare 
Company and Beit Al Batterjee Medical Company (Board Member affiliation) 
and renewal of this contract for another year. This transaction is the signing of 
administrative supervision agreements on four hospitals in the State of Pakistan for 
10% of net profit before tax and Zakat

Agree

26 Al Sagr 
Cooperative 
Insurance

13/06/2017 Election of the members of the Board of Directors of the company for the next session 
and duration of three years beginning from 16/06/2017 and ending on 16/06/2020

Abstain

27 Othaim 
Markets

19/06/2017 Amendment of Article (11) of the Articles of Association of the Company relating to 
the circulation of shares of the Company

Agree

28 Al Sagr 
Cooperative 
Insurance

16/08/2017 Formation of the Audit Committee for the new session which begins from the date of 
2017/06/16 and for a period of 3 years and to approve its functions and work controls 
and the remuneration of its members

Agree

29 Andalus 20/08/2017 Sale of the center of Andalus Mall and the adjacent hotel, which represent 56% of 
the total assets of the company as at 31/12/2016. The value of the sale amounted 
to SR 1,350 million and will be (70%) of the value of the mentioned sale against the 
company’s ownership of units in this fund, while the remaining 30% of that value is 
paid in cash for the company

Agree

30 Jabal Omar 04/10/2017 Amendment of Article (21) of the Articles of Association of the Company concerning 
the remuneration of members of the Council

Agree

Amendment of Article (22) of the Articles of Association of the Company concerning 
the powers of the President, the Deputy, the Managing Director and the Secretary

Agree

Amendment of Article (41) of the Articles of Association of the Company relating to 
the distribution of profits

Agree

Board of Directors’ mandate to distribute interim dividends to the shareholders of the 
Company

Agree

Auditor’s report for the short Hijri fiscal year ending 15/7/1438 AH Agree

Statement of financial position, statement of income, statement of changes in equity, 
cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements) for the short Hijri financial 
year ended 15/7/1438 H

Agree

Board of Directors report on the company’s activities for the short Hijri fiscal year 
ended 15/7/1438 AH

Agree

Discharge of the members of the Board of Directors for the short Hijri fiscal year ended 
15/7/1438H

Agree
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Business and contracts between Jabal Omar Development Company and Al-Bilad 
Finance Company (Board Member affiliation) in partnership with Gulf Investment Bank 
and its license for the coming year. The value of the business is expected to be about 
0.30% of the issue size (expected to not exceed SR 3.75 billion) and SR 300,000 per 
year after issuance. There are preferential conditions

Agree

Work and contracts between Jabal Omar Development Company and Al-Bilad 
Financial Company (Board Member affiliation) and its license for the coming year, as 
the nature of the contract is the sale of 93 housing units in the second phase of the 
project. The approximate value of the transaction is equivalent to one billion two 
hundred million riyals.  There are no preferential conditions

Agree

Business and contracts between Jabal Omar Development Company and Bank AlBilad 
for the next year is as the nature of the contract is to extend the term of the loan to 
become a long-term loan of four years instead of short term. The short-term loan for 
1438H is SR 28,021,526, with no preferential conditions

Agree

Work and contracts between Jabal Omar Development Company and AlBilad Fund 
and its license for the coming year. The rental of the company from the Bilad’s 
Hospitality Fund for five years worth SR 50,000,000 riyals with 95% of the net rental 
income of the sub-leased during each contractual year. There are no preferential 
conditions

Agree

Business and contracts between Jabal Omar Development Company and HSBC Saudi 
Arabia Limited (Board Member affiliation) and its license for the coming year. The 
value of the contract is SR 275,000 from 16/9/2017 until 15 / 9/2018, noting that there 
are no preferential conditions

Agree

Work and contracts between Jabal Omar Development Company and Al-Tazaj 
Foodstuff Factory (Board Member affiliation) in the commercial market and its 
licensing for the coming year. The duration of the contract starts from the date of 
28/4/2017 until 27/4/2020, at a value of SR 3,318,803 per year. There are no preferential 
conditions

Agree

Business and contracts between Jabal Omar Development Company and Advanced 
Electronics and Electronics Systems (Board Member affiliation) and its license for the 
coming year. The contract value is SR 11,093,896 riyals for one year from 11/4/2017 
and there are no preferential conditions

Agree

Business and contracts between Jabal Omar Development Company and Advanced 
Electronics and Electronics Systems (Board Member affiliation) and its license for the 
coming year. The contract value is SR 12,910,302 for a year as of 11/4/2017 and there 
are no preferential conditions

Agree

Company’s governance list Agree

List of work of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee Agree

Policies, standards and procedures of membership in the Board of Directors of the 
company

Agree

Remuneration policy of the members of the Board of Directors and its committees 
and executive management

Agree

31 Almarai 08/10/2017 Increase in the share capital from SAR 8,000 million to SAR 10,000 million through the 
distribution of one bonus share for each outstanding 4 shares (an increase of 25%), as 
a result the number of shares will increase from 800 million to 1,000 million

Agree

Amendment of the Article (7) of Almarai By-Laws to reflect increase in share capital Agree

Regulation of the Audit Committee attached Agree

Regulation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee attached Agree

Policy of the Remuneration of the Board of Directors, its committees and Executive 
Management

Agree

Policies and Procedures for membership in the Board of Directors Agree

32 SABIC 08/10/2017 Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association to comply with the New 
Companies Law

Agree

Selection of names of candidates for the board of directors to complete the current 
session, which began on 11/4/2016

Agree

33 Maaden 22/10/2017 Amending the Audit Committee Rules Agree

Amend the list of nominations and rewards Agree
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Election of the members of the Board of Directors, for the next session, which begins 
on 25/10/2017 for a period of three years

Agree

Formation of the Audit Committee of four members for the new session starting from 
25/10/2017 for a period of three years 

Agree

34 AlRajhi Bank 22/10/2017 Election of the members of the Board of Directors for the next session, which begins 
on 14/11/2017 for a period of three years

Agree

Formation of the Audit Committee and the commitment to the next session, which 
begins on 14/11/2017 for a period of three years

Agree

Policy of remuneration and compensation of Board members and committees, the 
Audit and Compliance Committee and senior executives

Agree

List of work of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee Agree

Nomination and Membership Policy of the Board of Directors at Al Rajhi Bank Agree

Board of Directors of Al Rajhi Cooperative Insurance Company, which is the renewal 
of the contract for the comprehensive insurance coverage of banks Property and 
business interruption and coverage of managers and executives. The contract will be 
without any conditions or preferential benefits for full year beginning November 1, 
2017 for a total value of SR 6,700,878 

Agree

35 Savola 02/11/2017 List of work of the Rewards and Nominations Committee Agree

Amendment of the Audit Committee Agree

Remuneration policy of the Board of Directors, its committees and the executive 
management of the company

Agree

Policies, standards and procedures of membership in the Board of Directors of the 
company

Agree

36 Yansab 09/11/2017 Board membership policy Agree

Remuneration policy of board members, executive committees and senior executives. Agree

Update the list of work of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee Agree

Company’s social responsibility policy Agree

37 Khaleej 
Training

22/11/2017 Election of the members of the Board of Directors for the next session, which begins 
from 12/22/2018 until 11/02/2021 for 3 years

Agree

Formation of the Audit Committee and determine its tasks and work controls and 
rewards of its members for the next session, which begins from 12/02/2018 and ends 
on 11/02/2021

Agree

Amended work of the Audit Committee Agree

List of work of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee Agree

List of conditions and criteria of membership in the Board of Directors Agree

Policy of remuneration of the Board of Directors and its committees and the executive 
management

Agree

Amendment of Article 3 of the Articles of Association of the company Agree

Addition of a new article in the second part (capital and shares) of the company’s 
articles of association

Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to allocate an annual budget for social 
responsibility estimated at SR 400,000

Agree

38 BUPA 30/11/2017 Remuneration Policy of the Amended Board of Directors Agree

Board Members’ Remuneration Policy Agree

Policy and procedures for the nomination and appointment of the members of the 
Board of Directors and the amended Committees of the Board

Agree

Executive Management Rewards Policy at the Company Agree

Amended governance list Agree

Recommendation of the Board of Directors to reduce the current session of the Board 
to expire on 30 June 2019 instead of 20 December 2019

Agree

39 Sipchem 19/12/2017 List of the updated Nomination and Remuneration Committee Agree
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Remuneration and compensation policy of directors, committees and executive 
management

Agree

Policy, criteria and procedures of membership in the board of directors Agree

40

Emaar EC 21/12/2017 Rove to sign a management and services contract for 20 years, one of the subsidiaries 
of Emaar Properties Group (Board Member affiliation) and authorized for the coming 
year, to operate a hotel in King Abdullah Economic City for 1.75% of revenues as 
management and marketing fees and between 0% and 8% of operating profits as 
incentive returns. Contract terms was after passing all the tender and evaluation 
applicable company procedures

Agree

Commercial transactions and contracts to be signed with Amlak International 
Company (Board Member affiliation) to sign a contract for the sale of residential units 
and ownership of qualified citizens by the Ministry of Housing 

Agree

Updating of the Rules of Work of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee Agree

Board of Directors’ remuneration policy, the executive committees and senior 
executives

Agree

Updating the policies and procedures of membership criteria in the Board of Directors Agree

Appointment of Mr. Saud bin Saleh Al Saleh (Independent) as a member of the Audit 
Committee starting from the date of the Assembly until the end of the current term of 
the Committee, April 23, 2020, instead of the outgoing member

Agree

41 Zain KSA 21/12/2017 Nomination and remuneration committee charter Agree

Remuneration policies for Board and committee members and executive 
management

Agree

Policies, standards and procedures for membership in Zain KSA Board Agree

42 NCB 24/12/2017 Annual Remuneration Policy for Directors and Affiliates Agree

Updating the Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee Regulation Agree

Updating the policy, criteria and procedures for nomination to the Board of Directors Agree

Work and contracts that will be concluded between the National Commercial Bank 
and Tawuniya (Board Member affiliation) and its license for the next year by accepting 
the contract to provide the medical insurance services for the employees of the 
National Commercial Bank for a full year starting from 01 January 2018 for the total 
amount of SR 143,315,122. Was done through competition without conditions or 
preferential advantages

Agree

43 SACO 24/12/2017 Updating the work of the Audit Committee Agree

Updating the work list of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee Agree

Updating of the policies and conditions of membership of the Board of Directors Agree

Policy of remuneration of the Board of Directors and its committees and executive 
management

Agree

44 Jarir 25/12/2017 Amendment of the work of the Audit Committee Agree

Amendment of the work list of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee Agree

Amend the list of policies, criteria and procedures for membership in the Board of 
Directors

Agree

Board of Directors’ remuneration policy and its executive committees Agree

45 SAFCO 26/12/2017 Board membership policy Agree

Update the work list of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee Agree

Company’s social responsibility policy Agree

46 Malath 27/12/2017 Board of Directors’ decision appointing Mr. Saleh Abdulrahman Al-Ismail as an 
independent member of the Audit Committee from the date of the Assembly until 
the end of the current period on 05-04-2019 instead of the outgoing member

Agree

Update of the Corporate Governance Manual Agree

47 Tawuniya 28/12/2017 Recommendation of the Board of Directors to appoint Mr. Abdulaziz Al-Nuweiser as a 
fourth member of the Audit Committee

Agree
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Work and contracts that will be between the company and the National Company for 
Medical Care (Board Member affiliation) and its license for the coming year. Insurance 
contracts worth SR 16,646,371 riyals as of 01/01/2018 without any preferential terms

Agree

Work and contracts that will be between the company and the National Company for 
Medical Care (Board Member affiliation) and its license for the coming year. Contracts 
to provide medical services to clients of the cooperative starting 01/01/2018 
equivalent to SR 47,830,764

Agree

48 Advanced 28/12/2017 Appointment of Mr. Waleed Mohammed Abdullah Al-Jaafari as a fourth member 
of the Audit Committee. This appointment shall be effective from the date of the 
Assembly and shall end at the end of the current session on 30/09/2019

Agree

Update membership policies, standards and procedures of the Board of Directors Agree

Remuneration policy for the members of the Board of Directors and its committees 
and the executive management

Agree

Working list of the updated Nomination and Remuneration Committee Agree

Working list of the updated Audit Committee Agree

49 Saudi German 
Hospital

29/12/2017 Amendment of the work of the Audit Committee Agree

Amendment of the work list of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee Agree

Amend the list of policies, criteria and procedures for membership in the Board of 
Directors

Agree

Board of Directors’ remuneration policy and its executive committees Agree

50 NCB 31/12/2017 Annual Remuneration Policy for Directors and Affiliates Agree

Updating the Nomination, Remuneration and Governance Committee Regulation Agree

Updating the policy, criteria and procedures for nomination to the Board of Directors Agree

The work and contracts that will be concluded between the National Commercial 
Bank and Tawuniya

Agree

5. Fund Board Meeting

 I. Held on March 28, 2017
 Topics Discussed

 • Approval of minutes for meeting held on October 18, 2016
 • Mr. Ali Al Fulaij was appointed as the Chairman of the Board of Funds by the Capital Market Authority. Also, Al Noor Fund was 

liquidated on 24/01/2017 and all funds were transferred to investors
 • Board reviewed the performance reports of Global Saudi Equity Fund and Global Shariah Compliant Saudi Equity Fund (Al Noor 

Fund) until the end of December 2016. Fund Manager explained some of the points mentioned reports and discussed about 
the performance of the two funds during the last period compared to their respective benchmarks. The discussion also tackled 
some of the points related to the stock and cash weights available in the Fund as well as addressed some of the risk measures 
and indicators in the reports

 • Board reviewed the audited financial statements of Global Saudi Equity Fund and Global Shariah Compliant Equity Fund (Al Noor 
Fund) as at 31 December 2016. Fund Manager pointed out that there were no reservations made by External Auditor on the 
financial statements and confirmed that they were uploaded on the company’s website and Tadawul website and that the same 
will be available to the unitholders upon request. Financial statements were approved by the Board members

 • Voting Policy manual was approved by the Board
 • Board approved the proposal of the Fund Manager to subscribe in the IPO for the Global Saudi Equity Fund
 • Board discussed the issue of changing the Fund auditor due to high cost and the change was approved provided there is better 

quotation
 • Compliance Manager’s review of Fund’s compliance with rules and regulations and observation of no violations since the last 

Board meeting
 • Compliance Manager informed the members of the amended Investment Funds Regulations and the effective date as of 

November 06, 2016
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 II. Held on November 07, 2017
  Topics Discussed

 • Approval of minutes for meeting held on March 28, 2017
 • Board Secretary informed the Board that the External Auditor had been changed from Ernst & Young to KPMG
 • Board reviewed the performance reports of the Global Saudi Equity Fund until the end of September 2017. Fund Manager 

explained some of the points mentioned in the report and discussed about the performance of the Fund during the last period 
compared to benchmark. The discussion also tackled some of the points related to the stock and cash weights available in the 
Fund as well as addressed some of the risk measures and indicators in the reports

 • Board reviewed the audited financial statements of Global Saudi Equity Fund (which had been approved by e-mail by the Fund 
Board of Directors) as of June 30, 2017. Fund Manager pointed out that there were no reservations made by External Auditor on 
the financial statements and confirmed that they were uploaded on the company’s website and Tadawul website and that the 
same will be available to the unitholders upon request 

 • Compliance Manager’s review of Fund’s compliance with rules and regulations and observation of no violations since the last 
Board meeting

 Resolutions
 • Board decided to appoint KPMG as the External Auditor of Global Saudi Equity Fund based on the unwillingness of the current 

auditor, Ernst & Young, to renew its contract with the Fund and to approve any increase in fees 
 • Board decided to open another brokerage account with JP Morgan

c) FUND MANAGER

1. Name and address of the fund manager
Global Investment House- Saudia
P.O. Box 66930
Riyadh 11586
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

2. Names and addresses of sub-manager and/or investment adviser (if any)
Not applicable 

3. Review of Investment Activities
At Global Saudia, investment decision making is a fundamental research driven process in order to generate higher risk-adjusted returns for 
unitholders. As an investment strategy, the Fund Manager uses a top down economic and sector overlay along with bottom up company analysis.

Overall, 2017 was a very range bound market with limited catalysts. Government policies dictated the overall sentiment while oil prices stability 
above $50/barrel provided cushion to the market. MSCI and FTSE potential index inclusion events revived market liquidity with Q4 seeing a 
marked improvement. Government continued to borrow prudently both in the local and international markets to finance its budget deficit. 
Despite negative real growth rate, IMF appraised the efforts to diversify the economic base and sources of income. 

In light of the above, the Fund was positioned to benefit from the structural economic changes coupled with investment in companies with 
value and turnaround in operations.

4. Fund Performance
Global Saudi Equity Fund had a positive return of 5.82% as of December 31, 2017 vis-a-vis 0.22% for the benchmark. The alpha can be attributed 
to the focus on evolving economic and market dynamics and likewise portfolio construction with resilient operating companies. Since inception, 
the Fund has delivered an annualized return of 9.28% vis-à-vis 4.71% for the benchmark for the corresponding period.

5. Material Changes on the T&Cs
 • External Auditor was changed, hence, the fees for the year was increased from SAR 45,000 to SAR 65,000

6. There was no other information that would enable unitholders to make an informed judgment about the fund’s activities 
during 2017.

7. Global Saudi Equity Fund doesn’t invest substantially in other investment funds.
8. There was no special commission received by the fund manager during 2017.
9. The Fund Manager believes there are no other data and other information required by the IFRs to be included in this report.
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d. CUSTODIAN

1. Name and address of custodian
HSBC Saudi Arabia Limited
2nd Floor, HSBC Building, Olaya Road
7267 Olaya, Al Murooj, 
Riyadh 12283-2255, 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

2. Duties and responsibilities
Custodian is a service provider to the Fund in line with article 22 to 29 of Investment Funds Regulations issued by the Capital Market 
Authority. Below are the brief responsibilities of the custodian:
- Opening of segregated accounts for the Fund in the name of the custodian for the benefit of Global Saudi Equity Fund.
- Safekeeping and periodic reconciliation of assets under custody
- Movements of Funds for Fund’s investment and Operational purposes based on Fund Manager Instructions
- Settlements of trades after execution and handling corporate action in the Fund portfolio based on Fund Manager Instructions
- Providing periodic statements to the Fund’s managers and the auditors.
- Complying with Client Money rules and Investment Account Instructions issued by the CMA.

3. Statement of opinion
a. issued, transferred and redeemed the units in accordance with the provisions of the Investment Funds Regulations and the Fund’s Terms 

and Conditions;
b. valued and calculated the price of units in accordance with the provisions of the Investment Funds Regulations, the Fund’s Terms and 

Conditions and the Information Memorandum;
c. breached any of the investment restrictions, limitations and borrowing powers applicable to the Investment Funds Regulations.

The responsibilities of the custodian do not include the expression of these opinions.

e. AUDITOR
1. Name and address of Auditor.

KPMG Al Fozan & Partners
KPMG Tower, Salahudeen Al Ayoubi Road
P O Box 92876, Riyadh 11663 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

f. FUND MANAGER INVESTMENT 
Fund Manager’s investment in the Fund as of December 31, 2017 was SAR 20,270,239.53 (4.04% of the NAV)
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 ي الوحدات مالكلمراجعي الحسابات تقریر  معالقوائم المالیة 

 م۲۰۱۷دیسمبر  ۳۱المنتھیة في للسنة 
 
 
 

 الصفحة الفھرس 
  

 -- تقریر المراجع المستقل
  

 ۱ قائمة المركز المالي
  

 ۲ قائمة الدخل
  

 ۳ قائمة التدفقات النقدیة
  

 ٤ قائمة التغیرات في صافي الموجودات العائدة لمالكي الوحدات
  

 ۱۰ - ٥ إیضاحات حول القوائم المالیة
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







۱ 

  صندوق جلوبل للأسھم السعودیة
  صندوق استثماري مفتوح

 ) السعودیة -شركة بیت الاستثمار العالمي  بواسطة(مُدار 
 قائمة المركز المالي 

 م۲۰۱۷ دیسمبر ۳۱ في للسنة المنتھیة
 (بالریال السعودي)

  
 

 م۲۰۱٦  م۷۲۰۱  إیضاح 
      الموجودات 

      
 ٤۱٫۱۱۱٫۹٥٥  ۱٥٫۲٦۰٫۰۳٥   نقد وما في حكمھ 

 ٤۳٥٫٤۳۲٫۳۲۰  ٤۸٥٫۱۳۷٫۸٦۰  ٦ استثمارات مقتناة بغرض المتاجرة
 --  ۱۲٫۹۹٤٫۳۸۰  ٥ مستحق من مضارب

 ٦۰٫۰۰۰  --   توزیعات أرباح مستحقة
 ٤۷٦،٦۰٤،۲۷٥  ٥۱۳٫۳۹۲٫۲۷٥   الموجودات  إجمالي

      
      المطلوبات 

      
 --  ۸٫۸۲۳٫٥۲۱  ٥ مستحق لمضارب

 ۱،۹۰۳،۷۹٤  ۲٫۱۷۷٫۰٦۳  ۷ أتعاب إدارة مستحقة
 ۲۹۸،۹۹۳  ۳٥٦٫۸۹۱   ومطلوبات أخرى مصروفات مستحقة

 ۲،۲۰۲،۷۸۷  ۱۱٫۳٥۷٫٤۷٥    المطلوبات  إجمالي
      

 ٤۷٤،٤۰۱،٤۸۸  ٥۰۲٫۰۳٤٫۸۰۰   ي الوحدات مالكصافي الموجودات العائدة ل
      

 ۲،۲۷۳،۹۸۷  ۲٫۲۷۳٫۹۸۷   (بالعدد) وحدات مصدرة
      

 ۲۰۸٫٦۲۱۰  ۲۲۰٫۷۷۲۹   صافي الموجودات العائدة لكل وحدة
 

 
 .وائم المالیةلا یتجزأ من ھذه الق جزءً  ۱۳ إلى ۱تعتبر الإیضاحات المرفقة من 

  

 

 

 
 



۲ 
 

  صندوق جلوبل للأسھم السعودیة
  مفتوحصندوق استثماري 

  )السعودیة -شركة بیت الاستثمار العالمي  بواسطة(مُدار 
 قائمة الدخل 

 م۲۰۱۷دیسمبر  ۳۱للسنة المنتھیة في 
 (بالریال السعودي)

 م۲۰۱٦  م۲۰۱۷ إیضاح 

     (خسارة)/ربح

)٤٫۱۸۱٫٥۸۸(  استثمارات مقتناة بغرض المتاجرة، صافيمحققة من  خسائر   )٥٦٫٤٦٦٫۰۱۲(  
غیر محققة من استثمارات مقتناة بغرض المتاجرة،  أرباح
  ۲٤۳۸٥٫٦۹۹ ٦ صافي

۳۹٫٦۸٥٫٥۸۸ 

 ۱٤٫٤۲۳٫۷۳۷  ۱۷٫۱۱۳٫۷٥۰  توزیعات  إیرادات
 ۳٥۸٫۲۰۳  ۱۱٫۸۳۹  إیرادات أخرى
)۱٫۹۹۸٫٤۸٤(  ۳۷٫۳۲۹٫۷۰۰  )الخسارة(/إجمالي الربح  

 
   المصروفات

   

 ۷٫٦٤٫٦٥٤  ۸٫٤۹٤٫٥٤٥ ۷  دارةالإأتعاب 
 ۱٫۰٤۳٫۱٦۷  ۱٫۲۰۱٫۸٤۳ ۸ مصروفات أخرى 

 ۸٫٦۸٤٫۸۲۱  ۹٫٦۹٦٫۳۸۸  المصروفات إجمالي
)۱۰٫٦۸۳٫۳۰٥(  ۲۷٫٦۳۳٫۳۱۲  السنة (خسارة)/ربحصافي   

 
  

 .لا یتجزأ من ھذه القوائم المالیة جزءً  ۱۳ إلى ۱تعتبر الإیضاحات المرفقة من 

  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
  



۳ 
 

  صندوق جلوبل للأسھم السعودیة
  استثماري مفتوحصندوق 

 ) السعودیة -شركة بیت الاستثمار العالمي  بواسطة(مُدار 
 النقدیةقائمة التدفقات 

 م۲۰۱۷دیسمبر  ۳۱للسنة المنتھیة في 
 (بالریال السعودي)

 م۲۰۱٦  م۲۰۱۷ إیضاح  

      الأنشطة التشغیلیة 

)۱۰٫٦۸۳٫۳۰٥(  ۲۷٫٦۳۳٫۳۱۲   السنة (خسارة)/ربحصافي   
      

 )/الناتجلمستخدم فيا( مع صافي النقد السنة (خسارة)/ربحتسویات لمطابقة صافي 
    الأنشطة التشغیلیة:  من 

 ٥٦٫٤٦٦٫۰۱۲  ٤٫۱۸۱٫٥۸۸ محققة من استثمارات مقتناة بغرض المتاجرةخسائر 
)۲٤٫۳۸٥٫٦۹۹( ٦                                      غیر محققة من استثمارات مقتناة بغرض المتاجرةأرباح    )۳۹٫٦۸٥٫٥۸۸(  

    ۷٫٤۲۹٫۲۰۱  ٦٫۰۹۷٫۱۱۹ 

      التغیرات في الموجودات والمطلوبات التشغیلیة: 

)٦٦۲٫۲٥۷٫۲٥٥(   مقتناة بغرض المتاجرةاستثمارات شراء    )۳۹٦٫۱۰٥٫۸٦۱(  
 ٤۲۳٫۸۸۰٫۷۲۷  ٦۳۲٫۷٥٥٫۸۲٦   بغرض المتاجرة متحصلات من بیع استثمارات مقتناة

)۱۲٫۹۹٤٫۳۸۰(   مستحق من مضارب   -- 
 ٦٫٥٦٤٫٤۸۹  --   ذمم مدینة أخرى

)٦۰٫۰۰۰(  ٦۰٫۰۰۰   توزیعات أرباح مستحقة  
 --  ۸٫۸۲۳٫٥۲۱   مستحق لمضارب

)۳۷٦٫٥۲٥(  ۲۷۳٫۲٦۹   أتعاب الإدارة المستحقة  
)٤۹٫۱٦۲(  ٥۷٫۸۹۸   ومطلوبات أخرى  مستحقة مصروفات  

)۲٥٫۸٥۱٫۹۲۰(   الأنشطة التشغیلیة صافي النقد (المستخدم في)/الناتج من    ۳۹٫۹٥۰٫۷۸۷ 
      

      الأنشطة التمویلیة 

)۷٫۳۳٥٫۲٥۰(  --    لاسترداد وحدات مدفوعات  
)۷٫۳۳٥٫۲٥۰(  --   الأنشطة التمویلیة  صافي النقد المستخدم في  

      
)۲٥٫۸٥۱٫۹۲۰(   في النقد وما في حكمھ (النقص)/الزیادة  صافي   ۳۲٫٦۱٥٫٥۳۷ 

 ۸٫٤۹٦٫٤۱۸  ٤۱٫۱۱۱٫۹٥٥   السنةالنقد وما في حكمھ في بدایة 
 ٤۱٫۱۱۱٫۹٥٥  ۱٥٫۲٦۰٫۰۳٥    السنةالنقد وما في حكمھ في نھایة 

 
 .لا یتجزأ من ھذه القوائم المالیة جزءً  ۱۳إلى  ۱تعتبر الإیضاحات المرفقة من 

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



٤ 
 

 صندوق جلوبل للأسھم السعودیة
  صندوق استثماري مفتوح

 ) السعودیة -شركة بیت الاستثمار العالمي  بواسطة(مُدار 
 الوحدات ي مالكفي صافي الموجودات العائدة ل قائمة التغیرات

  م۲۰۱۷دیسمبر  ۳۱ في المنتھیة للسنة
 السعودي)(بالریال 

 
 م۲۰۱٦  م۲۰۱۷ 
    

 ٤۹۲٫٤۲۰٫۰٤۳  ٤۷٤٫٤۰۱٫٤۸۸  السنةفي بدایة  ي الوحداتمالكالعائدة ل صافي قیمة الموجودات
    

)۱۰٫٦۸۳٫۳۰٥(  ۲۷٫٦۳۳٫۳۱۲  السنة(خسارة) /صافي ربح  
    

    التغیرات من معاملات الوحدات 
    

)۷٫۳۳٥٫۲٥۰(  -- مدفوعات لاسترداد وحدات  
)۷٫۳۳٥٫۲٥۰(  -- لوحدات التغیر في معاملات اصافي   

 ٤۷٤٫٤۰۱٫٤۸۸  ٥۰۲٫۰۳٤٫۸۰۰  السنة نھایةفي  العائدة لمالكي الوحدات صافي الموجودات

 

 (بالعدد)معاملات الوحدات 

 : دیسمبر ۳۱في  المنتھیة للسنةفیما یلي ملخصاً لمعاملات الوحدات 
 

 م۲۰۱٦  م۲۰۱۷ 
 (الوحدات)  (الوحدات) 
    

 ۲٫۳۱٦٫٦۸۹  ۲٫۲۷۳٫۹۸۷  السنةفي بدایة  الوحدات
    
)٤۲٫۷۰۲(  --   المستردة وحداتال  

)٤۲٫۷۰۲(  --  التغیر من معاملات الوحداتصافي   
 ۲٫۲۷۳٫۹۸۷  ۲٫۲۷۳٫۹۸۷  السنة نھایةفي  الوحدات

 
 
 

 .لا یتجزأ من ھذه القوائم المالیة جزءً  ۱۳إلى  ۱تعتبر الإیضاحات المرفقة من 

  

 

 

 
  



٥ 
 

  صندوق جلوبل للأسھم السعودیة
  صندوق استثماري مفتوح

 ) السعودیة -شركة بیت الاستثمار العالمي  بواسطة(مُدار 
 إیضاحات حول القوائم المالیة

 م۲۰۱۷دیسمبر  ۳۱للسنة المنتھیة في 
 (بالریال السعودي)

 الصندوق وأنشطتھ  .۱

شركة ة بین اقیبناءً على إتفتأسس  بالریال السعودي ("الصندوق") ھو صندوق استثماري مفتوح للأسھم السعودیة صندوق جلوبل
ي المیھدف الصندوق لتحقیق نمو رأس ي الوحدات"). مالك("مدیر الصندوق") والمستثمرین (" السعودیة -بیت الاستثمار العالمي 

 في سوق الأسھم السعودیة. لمتداولةالأسھم ا ستثمارعلى المدى الطویل من خلال ا

م) بموجب موافقة ھیئة السوق المالیة ("الھیئة") وبدأ ۲۰۰۸نوفمبر  ۱۹ھـ (الموافق ۱٤۲۹ذو القعدة  ۲۱تأسس الصندوق بتاریخ 
 م.۲۰۰۹ینایر  ۲۸نشاطھ بتاریخ 

م، قام الصندوق بتحویل مسؤولیة ۲۰۱۰أمین حفظ وإداري ومسجل. وخلال اتش اس بي سي للأوراق المالیة عین الصندوق شركة 
 تعمل أمین حفظ للصندوق. اتش اس بي سي للأوراق المالیة المسجل والإداري لمدیر الصندوق. لا تزال شركة 

اد قوائم الصندوق بإعدعند التعامل مع مالكي الوحدات یعتبر مدیر الصندوق أن الصندوق وحدة محاسبیة مستقلة. وعلیھ یقوم مدیر 
 مالیة منفصلة للصندوق.

 

 اللوائح النظامیة .۲
 

ھـ ۱٤۲۷ذو الحجة  ۳بتاریخ  ("الھیئة") ") الصادرة عن ھیئة السوق المالیةةئحصنادیق الاستثمار ("اللا للائحةیخضع الصندوق 
م) والتي تنص ۲۰۱٦مایو  ۲۳ھـ (الموافق ۱٤۳۷شعبان  ۱٦تعدیلھا بتاریخ ب قامت الھیئة م) والتي۲۰۰٦دیسمبر  ۲٤(الموافق 

 على المتطلبات التي یتعین على جمیع الصنادیق في المملكة العربیة السعودیة اتباعھا. 
 

 أسس الإعداد .۳
 

 المطبقة المحاسبیة المعاییر )أ

ة السعودیة الھیئلمعاییر المحاسبیة المتعارف علیھا في المملكة العربیة السعودیة والصادرة عن وفقاً ل القوائم المالیةھذه  إعدادتم 
 .للمحاسبین القانونیین

 

 أسس القیاس )ب
باستثناء  ،قاق المحاسبي ومفھوم الاستمراریةباستخدام مبدأ الاستحو  القوائم المالیة وفقاً لمبدأ التكلفة التاریخیةھذه تم إعداد 

  .حیث یتم قیاسھا بالقیمة العادلةالمقتناة بغرض المتاجرة الاستثمارات 
 

 عملة العرض والنشاط )ج

ومات كافة المعل تقریبتم  النشاط للصندوق.العرض وعملة أیضاً الذي یعتبر  بالریال السعوديتم عرض ھذه القوائم المالیة 
 . ریال سعوديالمعروضة لأقرب 

 
 والتقدیرات الأحكاماستخدام  )د

على المبالغ وتطبیق السیاسات  علىتؤثر  التي والافتراضاتاستخدام التقدیرات والأحكام من الإدارة یتطلب إعداد القوائم المالیة 
 عن ھذه التقدیرات.النتائج الفعلیة والمصروفات. قد تختلف  والإیراداتللموجودات والمطلوبات  المدرجة

 التقدیرات عةمراج عنھا تترتب التي التعدیلات أثر إظھار یتم. مستمر أساس على بھا المتعلقة والافتراضات التقدیرات مراجعة تتم
 التي تتم فیھا مراجعة التقدیرات على أساس مستقبلي. فترةال في المحاسبیة

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



٦ 
 

  صندوق جلوبل للأسھم السعودیة
  صندوق استثماري مفتوح

 ) السعودیة -شركة بیت الاستثمار العالمي  بواسطة(مُدار 
 إیضاحات حول القوائم المالیة

 م۲۰۱۷دیسمبر  ۳۱للسنة المنتھیة في 
 (بالریال السعودي)

 
  السیاسات المحاسبیة الھامة .٤

 .المالیة القوائم في المعروضة الفترات جمیع على ثابت بشكل أدناه المبینة المحاسبیة السیاسات تطبیق تم
 

 دخل توزیعات أرباح
 عندما یصبح للصندوق الحق في استلام توزیعات الأرباح. توزیعات الأرباحبیتم الاعتراف 

 

 الاستثمارات المقتناة بغرض المتاجرة

قیاسھا لاحقاً  إعادة قیاسھاویتم في تاریخ التداول التكلفة بمبدئیاً المتاجرة  الاستثمارات التي یتم شراؤھا بغرضب الاعترافیتم 
والأرباح  ،المقتناة بغرض المتاجرة الأرباح والخسائر غیر المحققة الناتجة عن إعادة تقییم الاستثمارات. ویتم إدراج العادلةبالقیم 

تمثل الأرباح المحققة من الاستثمارات المقتناة بغرض المتاجرة الفرق الاستثمارات في قائمة الدخل. تلك  بیعوالخسائر المحققة من 
بدایة فترة التقریر أو سعر المعاملة إذا تم شراؤھا في فترة التقریر الحالیة وبین سعر التسویة. بین القیمة الدفتریة للأداة المالیة في 

أما الأرباح غیر المحققة فتمثل الفرق بین القیمة الدفتریة للاستثمارات المقتناة بغرض المتاجرة في بدایة فترة التقریر أو سعر 
 ة وبین قیمتھا الدفتریة في نھایة فترة التقریر الحالیة.المعاملة إذا تم شراؤھا في فترة التقریر الحالی

 

 محاسبة تاریخ التداول
 

  التداول. یتم الاعتراف بكافة المشتریات والمبیعات للموجودات المالیة وإلغائھا بتاریخ
 

 النقد وما في حكمھ 

 محلي.في حساب مشترك في بنك النقد المحتفظ بھ لدى امین الحفظ یمثل النقد وما في حكمھ 
 

 ضریبة الدخلو الزكاة

 مالكي الوحدات ولم یتم تحمیلھا في ھذه القوائم المالیة. على ضریبة الدخل التزاماً و تعد الزكاة
 

 المصروفات المستحقة

لمورد ایتم اثبات المطلوبات بالمبالغ التي سیتم دفعھا في المستقبل للبضائع أو الخدمات المستلمة سواء تم إصدار فواتیر بھا من قبل  
 أم لا.

 

 المصروفات 

 الاعتراف بالمصروفات على أساس الاستحقاق. یتم  
 

 مستحق من وإلى مضارب .٥

). تعود دائرة التسویة للفترة T+۲، قامت تداول بتعدیل دائرة تسویة الأسھم المدرجة في السوق (م۲۰۱۷أبریل  ۲۳اعتباراً من 
وتسجیل تحویل ملكیة الأسھم وقیمة المعاملة للمدفوعات الفعلیة. تم تسجیل المستحق من وإلى  التجاریة ما بین إجراء المعاملة

 .السنة نھایة قبل فوراً  تأثرتریة والتي المضارب في ھذه القوائم المالیة لبیع وشراء المعاملات التجا
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



۷ 
 

 
  صندوق جلوبل للأسھم السعودیة

  صندوق استثماري مفتوح
 ) السعودیة -شركة بیت الاستثمار العالمي  بواسطة(مُدار 

 إیضاحات حول القوائم المالیة
 م۲۰۱۷دیسمبر  ۳۱للسنة المنتھیة في 

 (بالریال السعودي)
 

 استثمارات مقتناة بغرض المتاجرة .٦

التالیة كما في  التعرض قطاعاتمن  وتتكون ("تداول") السعودیة الأسھم سوق في مدرجة أسھم ھي المتاجرة بغرض المقتناة الاستثمارات
 تاریخ التقریر:

 م۲۰۱۷دیسمبر  ۳۱
القیمة  ٪

  القیمة الدفتریة   القیمة العادلة  العادلة
 (خسائر)/أرباح

 غیر محققة
        القطاع

 ۱۱٫٥۹٤٫۷۱۳  ۱۹۳٫۱٥۳٫۰۳۷  ۲۰٤٫۷٤۷٫۷٥۰  ٤۲٫۲۰ البنوك والخدمات المالیة
 ۷٫۳٤۳٫٦۸۷  ۹۸٫۷٥٦٫٥٦۳  ۱۰٦٫۱۰۰٫۲٥۰  ۲۱٫۸۷ الصناعات البتروكیماویة

 ۳٫۰۲۹٫۰۷٤  ٥۳٫٦٤۳٫۷۸٦  ٥٦٫٦۷۲٫۸٦۰  ۱۱٫٦۸ التجزئة
 ٥٫٤۰٦٫٦۱۰  ٤۲٫۸۷٦٫٤٤۰  ٤۸٫۲۸۳٫۰٥۰  ۹٫۹٥ تأمین

)٤٫۷۱۱٫۰۹٦(  ۳۱٫٦٥۸٫۸٤٦  ۲٦٫۸۸۷٫۷٥۰  ٥٫٥٤ تطویر عقاري  
 ۱٥۳٫۱۷۹  ۲۰٫۲۰۲٫۰۲۱  ۲۰٫۳٥٥٫۲۰۰  ٤٫۲۰ الاتصالات وتقنیة المعلومات

 ٤۱۳٫۸۰۰  ۱۱٫۹۰٦٫۲۰۰  ۱۲٫۳۲۰٫۰۰۰  ۲٫٥٤ الرعایة الصحیةمعدات وخدمات 
 ۱٫۰٥۳٫۲٥۸  ٤٫۷۰۰٫۷٤۲  ٥٫۷٥٤٫۰۰۰  ۱٫۱۹ طاقة ومرافق خدمیة

 ۱٦۲٫٤۷٤  ۳٫۸٥٤٫٥۲٦  ٤٫۰۱۷٫۰۰۰  ۰٫۸۳ استثمار صناعي
 ۲٤٫۳۸٥٫٦۹۹  ٤٦۰٫۷٥۲٫۱٦۱  ٤۸٥٫۱۳۷٫۸٦۰  ۱۰۰ الإجمالي

 

 العادلةالقیمة   القیمة العادلة ٪ م۲۰۱٦دیسمبر  ۳۱
 

  القیمة الدفتریة 
 (خسائر)/أرباح

 یر محققةغ
        القطاع

 ۷٫۹٤٥٫۸٦۹  ۱۳۱٫۸٤۰٫٦۳۱  ۱۳۹٫۷۸٦٫٥۰۰  ۳۲٫۱۰ البنوك والخدمات المالیة
۰۹٫۰۸۸٤٫۲  ۱۹٫۳٤ الصناعات البتروكیماویة ۰  ۷۰٫٤٤۱٫۳٥۰  ۱۳٫۷٦۷٫٥٥۰ 

)٥٫۰۲٦٫٤٤۳(  ٦۲٫۰۱۸٫٤٦۳  ٥٦٫۹۹۲٫۰۲۰  ۱۳٫۰۹ التجزئة  
 ٥٫۹۹۳٫٤۱٥  ۳۱٫۸٥۹٫۰۸٥  ۳۷٫۸٥۲٫٥۰۰  ۸٫٦۹ تأمین

 ٥٫۲۱٤٫۲۰۰  ۲٥٫۳٥۹٫۳۰۰  ۳٥٫۸٤٤٫٥۰۰  ۸٫۲۳ معدات وخدمات الرعایة الصحیة
 ٦٫۹۳۲٫۸٥٥  ۲۸٫۹۱۱٫٦٤٥  ۳۰٫٥۷۳٫٥۰۰  ۷٫۰۲ تطویر عقاري

 ۱٫۲۱۲٫٥۸۸  ۲٦٫۳۸٤٫۸۱۲  ۲۷٫٥۹۷٫٤۰۰  ٦٫۳٤ طاقة ومرافق خدمیة
 ۱٫٥٥٦٫٥٥٤  ۱٤٫٤۰٤٫٤٤٦  ۱٥٫۹٦۱٫۰۰۰  ۳٫٦۷ الاتصالات وتقنیة المعلومات

 ۲٫۰۸۹٫۰۰۰  ٤٫٥۲۷٫۰۰۰  ٦٫٦۱٦٫۰۰۰  ۱٫٥۲ استثمار صناعي
 ۳۹٫٦۸٥٫٥۸۸  ۳۹٥٫۷٤٦٫۷۳۲  ٤۳٥٫٤۳۲٫۳۲۰  ۱۰۰ الإجمالي

 المعاملات مع الأطراف ذات العلاقة  .۷

ندوق یتعامل الص وأمین الحفظ ومجلس إدارة الصندوق.والشركة الأم لمدیر الصندوق  الأطراف ذات العلاقة للصندوق مدیر الصندوق تتضمن
 ).۱(إیضاح  خلال السیاق الاعتیادي لأعمالھ مدیر الصندوق وأمین الحفظمع 

على الأتعاب وتستحق  على أساس یومي المستحقة من صافي قیمة الموجودات ٪۱٫۷٥یدفع الصندوق لمدیر الصندوق أتعاب إدارة بنسبة 
  .ةشھری بصورة

 من صافي قیمة الموجودات في آخر یوم تقییم من الشھر المعني.  ٪۰٫۱۳الصندوق لمدیر الصندوق أتعاب إداریة بنسبة كما یدفع 

للأتعاب  تستحق بصورة شھریة وفقاً للحد الأدنىتاریخ تقییم و على صافي قیمة موجودات الصندوق كما في كل یتم قید استحقاق أتعاب الحفظ
 السنویة ذات الصلة كما یلي:

 النسبة  صافي قیمة موجودات الصندوق
ملیون دولار أمریكي ٥۰حتى   ۰٫۱٥٪ 
 ٪۰٫۱۳٥  ملیون دولار أمریكي  ۱۰۰إلى  ٥۰

 ٪۰٫۱۲  ملیون دولار أمریكي ۲۰۰إلى  ۱۰۰
 ٪۰٫۱۰  ملیون دولار أمریكي وأكثر ۲۰۰

 



۸ 
 

  صندوق جلوبل للأسھم السعودیة
  صندوق استثماري مفتوح

 ) السعودیة -شركة بیت الاستثمار العالمي  بواسطة(مُدار 
 إیضاحات حول القوائم المالیة

 م۲۰۱۷دیسمبر  ۳۱للسنة المنتھیة في 
 (بالریال السعودي)

 المعاملات مع الأطراف ذات العلاقة (یتبع) .۷

 تتم معاملات تداول الأسھم في سوق الأسھم السعودي بواسطة أمین حفظ الصندوق.  

 ذات الأطراف مع المعاملات یلي فیما، المالیة القوائم في عنھا المفصح العلاقة ذات الأطراف مع المعاملات الى إضافةً 
  :دیسمبر ۳۱ في المنتھیة للسنة العلاقة

 

 ۲۰۱٦م  م ۲۰۱۷ طبیعة المعاملة العلاقة والطرف ذ

 -شركة بیت الاستثمار العالمي 
 ۸٫٤۹٤٫٥٤٥ أتعاب الإدارة الصندوق) (مدیر السعودیة

 
۷٫٦٤۱٫٦٥٤ 

 ٥٦۷٫٦٦٦  ٦۳۱٫۰۲۳ أتعاب إداریة 

     
اتش اس بي سي للأوراق شركة 
 ٤۷۳٫۳۱۲ أتعاب حفظ (أمین الحفظ)المالیة 

 
۳۹۷٫۸٥۳ 

     
 ۲۰٫۰۰۰  ۲۰٫۰۰۰ أتعاب اجتماعات الصندوق مجلس أعضاء

 دیسمبر: ۳۱فیما یلي معاملات مالكي الوحدات للسنة المنتھیة في 
 ۲۰۱٦م  م ۲۰۱۷ طبیعة المعاملة العلاقة والطرف ذ

شركة  -الشركة الأم لمدیر الصندوق 
 -- استرداد وحدات  *الكویت –بیت الاستثمار العالمي 

 

۷٫۳۳٥٫۲٥۰ 

 :دیسمبر ۳۱الأرصدة القائمة مع الأطراف ذات العلاقة كما في فیما یلي 
 ۲۰۱٦م  م ۲۰۱۷ طبیعة المعاملة العلاقة والطرف ذ

 -شركة بیت الاستثمار العالمي 
 ۲٫۱۷۷٫۰٦۳ أتعاب الإدارة المستحقة الصندوق) (مدیر السعودیة

 

۱٫۹۰۳٫۷۹٤ 

 ۱٤۱٫٤۲٤  ۱٦۱٫۷۲٥ أتعاب إداریة مستحقة 

     
اتش اس بي سي للأوراق شركة 
 ۱۲۲٫٥۱٦ أتعاب حفظ مستحقة (أمین الحفظ)المالیة 

 
۹٤٫۹۱۷ 

     
 ۲۰٫۰۰۰  ۲۰٫۰۰۰ مستحقة اجتماعات أتعاب الصندوق مجلس أعضاء

 : یلي ما دیسمبر ۳۱ في كما الوحدات مالكي حساب یتضمن
 ۲۰۱٦م  م ۲۰۱۷ 

    
 ۹۱٫۸۱٥  ۹۱٫۸۱٥  الصندوق  مدیر

 ۲٫۱۷۲٫۱۷۲  ۲٫۱۷۲٫۱۷۲ *الصندوق لمدیر الأم الشركة

 ۱۰٫۰۰۰  ۱۰٫۰۰۰ الصندوق مجلس أعضاء

 نیابة عن العملاء. بواسطة مدیر الصندوق مت ھذه الاستثماراتت* 

 

 
 



۹ 
 

 
  صندوق جلوبل للأسھم السعودیة

  صندوق استثماري مفتوح
 ) السعودیة -شركة بیت الاستثمار العالمي  بواسطة(مُدار 

 إیضاحات حول القوائم المالیة
 م۲۰۱۷دیسمبر  ۳۱للسنة المنتھیة في 

 (بالریال السعودي)

 مصروفات أخرى .۸
دیسمبر ۳۱في  للسنة المنتھیة   
  ۲۰۱٦م  م ۲۰۱۷ 

 ٥٦۷٫٦٦٦  ٦۳۱٫۰۲۳ )۷أتعاب إداریة (إیضاح 

 ۳۹۷٫۸٥۳  ٤۷۳٫۳۱۲ )۷أتعاب حفظ (إیضاح 

 ۷۷٫٦٤۸  ۹۷٫٥۰۸ أخرى

 ۱٫۲۰۱٫۸٤۳  ۱٫۰٤۳٫۱٦۷ 

 إدارة المخاطر .۹

 مخاطر الائتمان

من تضت ما یتسبب في خسائر للطرف الآخر.م مخاطر الائتمان ھي مخاطر فشل أحد أطراف الأدوات المالیة للوفاء بإلتزاماتھ
من مخاطر  وما في حكمھ والمستحق من مضارب. یسعى الصندوق للحدالموجودات المالیة للصندوق لمخاطر الإئتمان النقد 

 ة التعرض لمخاطر الائتمان.الائتمان من خلال مراقب

مضارب  والمستحق من .جید إئتماني تصنیف ذو محلي بنك لدى مشترك حساب في بھ المحتفظ النقدیتضمن النقد وما في حكمھ 
 من طرف آخر ذو جودة ائتمانیة ویتم تسویتھ بعد نھایة السنة. وأیضاً المستحق

 الأسھممخاطر أسعار 

 ھي إحتمال التقلبات في قیمة الأدوات المالیة بسبب التغیرات في أسعار السوق. الأسھممخاطر أسعار 

دوق في یستثمر مدیر الصنلمخاطر أسعار السوق من عدم التأكد من الأسعار المستقبلیة. اسیة الأستتعرض استثمارات الصندوق 
 أسھم متداولة في سوق الأسھم السعودي. 

 مخاطر السیولة

 مخاطر السیولة ھي مخاطر تعرض الصندوق لصعوبة توفیر الأموال للوفاء بالتزاماتھ المرتبطة بالإلتزامات المالیة. 

 وعلیھ، یتعرض لمخاطر السیولة في مرتین في الأسبوعتنص أحكام وشروط الصندوق بالنسبة للإشتراك واسترداد الوحدات 
 تلبیة استردادات مالكي الوحدات.

ت. یراقب بسھولة في أي وق تسییلھالصندوق قابلة للتحقق حیث أن ھذه الاستثمارات في أسھم مدرجة یتم ل الأوراق المالیةتعتبر 
 مدیر الصندوق متطلبات السیولة بصورة منتظمة للتأكد من توفر التمویل لمقابلة الإلتزامات عند استحقاقھا.

 مخاطر العملات

تم تمخاطر العملات تمثل المخاطر الناجمة عن تذبذب قیمة الأدوات المالیة نتیجة للتغیرات في أسعار صرف العملات الأجنبیة. 
 .لا یتعرض الصندوق لمخاطر عملاتوالذي یمثل العملة الوظیفیة، وعلیھ ملات الصندوق بصورة رئیسیة بالریال السعودي معا

 

 

 



۱۰ 
 

 
  صندوق جلوبل للأسھم السعودیة

  صندوق استثماري مفتوح
 ) السعودیة -شركة بیت الاستثمار العالمي  بواسطة(مُدار 

 إیضاحات حول القوائم المالیة
 م۲۰۱۷دیسمبر  ۳۱المنتھیة في للسنة 

 (بالریال السعودي)

 العادلة للأدوات المالیة  ةالقیم .۱۰

ثمارات والاست الأرصدة البنكیةالموجودات المالیة للصندوق من الأدوات المالیة من الموجودات والمطلوبات المالیة. تتكون تتكون 
حق المست . وتتكون المطلوبات المالیة للصندوق منالمستحقةوالمستحق من مضارب وتوزیعات الأرباح المقتناة للمتاجرة 

 والمصروفات المستحقة والمطلوبات الأخرى.  المستحقة أتعاب الإدارةلمضارب و

 ینب منتظمة معاملة ضمن ما التزام تحویل مقابل دفعھا أو ما أصل بیع مقابل استلامھا سیتم التي القیمة ھي العادلة القیمة
الإغلاق سعار أتداولة في سوق نشط بالرجوع إلى یتم تحدید القیمة العادلة للاستثمارات الم. القیاس بتاریخ السوق في المشاركین
 في السوق.

 اً لعادلة جوھریا قیمتھالا تختلف  ،المالیة الأخرى للأدواتیتم قید الاستثمارات المقتناة بغرض المتاجرة بالقیمة العادلة. وبالنسبة 
 في تاریخ التقریر نتیجة لطبیعتھا قصیرة الأجل. عن قیمتھا الدفتریة

  تقییمیوم  آخر .۱۱

 م). ۲۰۱٦ دیسمبر ۳۱م: ۲۰۱٦م (۲۰۱۷ دیسمبر ۳۱للسنة ھو آخر یوم تقییم 

 أرقام المقارنة .۱۲

 الحالیة. السنةتم إعادة تصنیف بعض أرقام المقارنة للفترة السابقة لتتماشى مع طریقة عرض 

 اعتماد القوائم المالیة  .۱۳

 م).۲۰۱۸ مارس ۲۰(الموافق  ھـ۱٤۳۹ رجب ۳بتاریخ تم اعتماد القوائم المالیة من قبل مجلس إدارة الصندوق 

 
 




